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PROLOGUE
Richard knew he was dying. He could feel his consciousness slowly slipping away. The whole thing was like a nightmare. One moment he was sitting in the jump seat on the flight deck of the world’s most advanced airplane about to land at Heathrow and then next moment he was in terrible pain, lying in hospital, with the world spinning around. He tried to remember what had happened but nothing seemed to make sense.

 He could not see the room clearly. He was glad Carol was there, though he could barely say a word to her. What a homecoming. He was aware of people rushing in and looking after him but he realised it would not be for long.

Though everything was a blur, the flight somehow kept coming back to him. He remembered Harry arranging for him to travel back from Sydney as supernumerary crew. He had been wanting to see the 798’s advanced flight deck ever since it had gone into airline service and so he had leapt at the chance when Harry invited him. The 747s he was flying were quite new, but were archaic compared with the 798. He had read about the aircraft in the newspapers and magazines, especially those articles by his old colleague Peter Talbert. 
Carol had just come into the room again but she seemed far away, behind the flight deck. He could feel the pain in his shoulders from the shoulder straps and he tried to loosen them. It had been a wonderful flight until the hijackers arrived. How on earth had they got on board? And onto the Flight Deck past the marshals? They had somehow forced their way through the flight deck door, both carrying guns, pointing them at Harry and at Charles, the first officer. Harry had been magnificent controlling the madmen and the aircraft at the same time.

The hijackers had a crazy scheme of getting the Government to give them some al-Qaeda prisoners and then take-off again for the Middle East. Ahmed, the leader, was talking about blowing the plane up if the prisoners were not released. Surely they had not got a bomb? Perhaps it was all bluff. Richard had known, and surely Harry must have done, that they would never have been allowed to take-off again but Harry played along with Ahmed, the leader, arranging the refuelling on the runway. As if to make matters worse, the headwind from Sydney had been stronger than forecast so they did not have too much fuel and the weather at London was freezing fog. Richard had felt so sorry for Harry to have to carry this burden but he was powerless to help.

Suddenly he felt he should tell Peter about the flight. Someone needed to know. He felt himself saying “Peter Talbert. Get Peter. I want to tell him …” 

Now Carol seemed to be walking through the instruments towards him and bending over him. He tried to move but he couldn’t and he knew it wasn’t really the shoulder straps stopping him. He seemed to hear air traffic control talking. Harry had turned the speakers off but Ahmed had insisted that they should be turned back on again. He remembered wondering if it was going to be possible for Harry to fly a Cat 3 approach and landing, in freezing fog, with the hijackers interfering, without the aircraft crashing. He knew the autopilot would be flying the aircraft but the system was not infallible. 
Poor Harry, he seemed only to have one display in front of him and he was continually having to switch from the vertical display to the horizontal one. Charles, on his other side, seemed to have no problem. Richard remembered that he also had had a display and some instruments in front of him but they did not seem to be much use for finding out what was happening. Air Traffic had told them they could not use the ILS on 27L which had concerned him. But Harry had known it was permitted to use the new European satellite navigation system for the landing. He heard Ahmed talking to Harry and Harry telling him to be quiet. 

Richard woke up with a start. He must have dropped off into a coma. The pain in his leg was terrible. Carol was still there and so was the flight deck. They were close to landing. He remembered feeling worried as his experience with GPS for navigation had not been all that good but Peter Talbert had written that the latest satellite system was first rate and very closely monitored for errors. He knew that he had felt that there was no way that Harry was going to be able to manage with Ahmed standing there with his gun, talking. Harry and Charles had seemed very confident but Ahmed kept interfering. They were down to 100ft now and he looked again at his instruments and then at the hijackers. He tried to yell ‘Pull up, Pull up’ felt himself bracing, there was a crash and he realised that he was being moved from his bed. 

Sometime later Richard woke again. His right leg was completely numb. This time the flight deck had gone. He could see Carol and there was Peter standing next to her. He made a supreme effort to talk.
“Peter. The hijackers…”

Peter was leaning forward. 
“I tried to tell …”

He felt himself slipping away.

CHAPTER 1

“Heathrow broadcast – the airport is now closed. I say again, the airport is closed. Speedbird 6328 route direct to Ockham, climb flight level 100 and join the hold.”
I was driving in thick fog, trying to get home from Bournemouth. I didn’t have far to go to my house in Kingston and I was looking forward to getting back. As I often did, I was listening to the conversation between aircraft and ground controllers on my VHF set. I had had the receiver specially fitted to my rather elderly BMW at what was, in my view, an extortionate cost but I reckoned I could offset the cost against my tax. The transmission from London Approach was only just audible, even though I was only a few miles from Heathrow.
 “Climbing level 100 to Ockham to hold, Speedbird 6328. What’s the snag? We are Cat 3”

Clearly the fog I was experiencing covered Heathrow as well. Like the British Airways pilot I wondered what the problem was and why the aircraft was not allowed to land.

 “Speedbird 6328 understood. Call Director on 119.2 with cleared level”
“119.2 Speedbird 6328”

It was strange that Approach did not advise the aircraft of the reason for diversion.

“RWA 372. Please advise your desired alternate.”

“Roger. Royal 372 calling company.”

“Royal 372 thank you – quick as you can please.”

I switched to Royal World Airlines Operations frequency.
“RWA Operations this is 372. Just been told Heathrow is closed. Why? What do you want me to do?”

“Ops to 372. Confirm Heathrow is closed. Request clearance to Stansted. We are arranging a gate for you.”

It was odd that RWA operations did not tell 372 what the problem was either. I would have liked to have known as well. The fog if anything was getting worse and there was now ice on the road. Perhaps the airport authority had decided that they needed to treat the runways.
“Operations, this is 573. Have you arranged the refuelling?”

“We’re still doing that. You are being refuelled by tankers instead of by hydrants on the stands and we are making sure that they have enough fuel for Karachi and that they can get to your parking position on the runway.”

 “573 understood.”

If the reception had not been absolutely clear I would have thought I had misheard the aircraft transmission. It did not make sense. 
“RWA Ops This is 573. I have been asked to establish whether the prisoners have been released and are waiting at the airport?”

“573 please stand by. Will advise.”

There was only one explanation I could think of. The aircraft must have been hijacked. But that was virtually impossible these days with such high security at the airports. I wondered where 573 had come from. What a dreadful situation. If the aircraft was going to land at Heathrow it was no wonder the airport was closed.

There was a short pause. 

 “RWA Ops I have been told to remind you that the hijackers are going to blow up the aircraft if there is any delay to their instructions which I passed to you”

“573 This is RWA Ops Copied.”

I wanted to retune my VHF receiver to London Approach but I was frightened I might miss something. However there was nothing more on the RWA Ops channel so I switched to the Approach frequency just as I was entering my drive. I decided to stay in the car until 573 had landed. I left the engine running to keep warm.
“Speedbird 756 Heathrow now closed. Do you want Stansted or Gatwick?”

“Gatwick please 756”

“Speedbird 756 maintain flight level 70 and turn left heading 240 degrees. Maintain 220 knots. Expect to hold at Biggin.”
Clearly there was a real emergency for this hijack. I wondered how many other people besides me were hearing this appalling situation unfold.

“Director Royal 573 reaching 4,000.”

“Roger Cleared procedural GESS
 final approach 27 left”

“Royal 573 we’d prefer the ILS”
I sympathised with the pilot. I always preferred radio beams physically defined in space to virtual centre lines calculated by software.

“Sorry Royal 573 the ATIS is incorrect. The ILS is no longer approved for Cat 3 approaches and is out of service. What are your intentions?”

There was a distinct pause.

 “Royal 573 Request GESS approach 27 Left.”

“You are cleared for GESS approach cleared to descend on the procedure. Maintain heading and call the Tower on 118.5”

“118.5 Royal 573”

I switched to the tower frequency just in time to hear 573’s call.
 “Tower Royal 573 ten miles 27 Left. Confirm GELAS OK.”
“Royal 573 hello. You are clear to land 27 left, wind calm RVR 20, 30,20 GELAS showing OK”

“Roger Royal 573”

The weather was definitely Category 3B. The three transmissionmeters measuring the runway visual range along the length of the runway all agreed. I just couldn’t imagine what it must be like doing an automatic landing in fog while being hijacked, presumably with a pistol being held to my head. Furthermore, I did not understand why the aircraft was having to use the Galileo European Satellite System, GESS, instead of the Instrument Landing System, ILS. The pilot was very sensible to recheck that the GELAS system, which augmented the accuracy of the GESS satellites, was working correctly.
“Heathrow Tower RWA 573 please check wind speed.”

The Tower did not answer immediately then,
“573 from Tower, the wind is calm.”

Another pause.

“573 you appear to be low on the glide slope.”
There was no answer. The controller sounded worried and so was I. There were no more transmissions. I wound down my car window and I thought I could hear sirens in the distance. I looked at my watch. It was 10.30. It had taken me over three hours to get home from Bournemouth instead of my normal two. I was undecided what to do. It was too late to ring Mandy, my girl friend who I had just left. I knew she went to bed early when she was working the next day. Her train left at 6.30 am. That was why we had had a very early meal and I had left soon after seven having lingered much longer than we had planned and had very nearly broken our unspoken resolution about where I should stay the night.

I had driven back to my house in Kingston on an emotional and sexual high, trying to listen to some of Andrew Lloyd Webber’s older songs on my CD but having to keep switching the CD off in order to concentrate on the almost impenetrable fog, made much worse by the freezing conditions. It was a very scary drive trying to allow for the vagaries not only of the weather but the other foolhardy drivers on the road and I was very thankful for my GPS navigator. In the end I had switched the music off and decided to listen to my VHF receiver to hear how the fog was affecting the Heathrow traffic.
I collected my things from the car, unlocked the front door, cancelled the alarm and went into the house, full of trepidation. Something terrible had obviously happened. It would have been pointless rushing to the airport. I dropped everything and switched on Radio 5. 
As usual Radio 5 was talking about soccer. It was obviously a subject that was of great interest though I found it difficult to understand why. Suddenly the guy leading the discussion said there was breaking news and passed us over to the newsroom.
“It has just been reported that an aircraft has crashed trying to land at London Airport. Apparently, the aircraft has crashed on the A30 to the east of the airport.”
There was nothing more and soccer once more reigned supreme. I turned the volume down slightly so that I would hear the inevitable upgrading of the news on the crash. I was horrified. The accident was clearly a terrible disaster. Goodness knows how many people had been killed, on the ground as well as in the air. Already people would be wondering how the accident occurred. The hijacking was clearly a critical factor.
Automatically I went into the dining room, which I had turned into an office, and turned on my computer. I had one of the latest machines on the market but it still seemed to take a long time for it to load the software and be ready for use. It was rather like the Flight Deck Computers on aircraft; however fast they were they were never fast enough for the job the pilot wanted to do. This was what I immodestly called Talbert’s first law of flight deck computing. 

Aviation was my business. I had spent the first fourteen years of my working life flying for Britannia Airways, until the doctors discovered a heart murmur which had never troubled me but which they considered made it impossible for me to keep a licence. I tried everything I could at the time to appeal against the judgement of the doctors at Gatwick but to no avail. I had had to settle for loss of licence insurance which hardly compensated for being unemployed and I was attempting to earn my living as a consultant in airline safety matters, having done some crew training in the classroom as well as various other things to make ends meet.

I went to the Royal World Airlines web site and found the flight details of RWA 573. It had taken off from Sydney at 0930 local time and was due in at 2230. There was no other information on the web site. 
I thought about the conversation with air traffic. The voice sounded very familiar. I felt I should have recognised it. Perhaps the voice, presumably the Captain, was a member of the Guild of Air Pilots and Air Navigators, as I was, and we had met.

 It was puzzling that the aircraft had been allowed to land at Heathrow. The standard Air Traffic Control instructions were to divert all hijacked aircraft to Stansted. Not that there were any hijacked aircraft these days. Security was always far too good. I wondered again how the hijackers had got on board since the Sydney security was extremely tight. It was going to be important to discover not only why the accident happened but how the breach of security occurred.
I heard the news reported again on Radio 5.

“Further details have emerged on the accident to an aircraft that occurred trying to land at Heathrow. The weather was extremely foggy and very icy. The aircraft was a Royal World Airlines’ Independant Transport Aircraft Company 798 flying non-stop from Sydney to London. There are believed to be about 500 passengers and crew on the aircraft. The situation is confused because it is understood there was a hijacking alert coming from this aircraft.” 
The news reader had said that the aircraft belonged to Royal World Airlines and was one of the new super jumbo four-engined Independant 798s. I knew the aircraft well because I had written a technical article on it for the Financial Times when it was first certificated. The 798 had a capacity of about 750 people when flying on the Sydney-London route against the normal headwind. It was made by the Independant Transport Aircraft Company based near Seattle and could carry over 1,000 people when flying short distances with the maximum number of seats, a fact which I found slightly disturbing imagining the understandable panic if there was ever a need for rapid evacuation.
Independant was a relatively new airplane manufacturer started by ex-Boeing engineers and marketing executives. As the competition from the European Airbus company had increased, Boeing had found it harder and harder to compete. The launch of the Airbus 380 accelerated the decline of Boeing and the firm had had to lay off an enormous number of engineers in the Commercial division of the company. These engineers, realising that the Boeing overheads were crippling the company, had persuaded some venture capitalists in the State of Washington, many of whom had made a lot of money locally out of Microsoft, to start the Independant Transport Aircraft Company. The new firm had managed to get a lease of some ground on the airfield at Everett, where the large Boeing aircraft were assembled, and had built a huge new hangar. The design office was in a rented building in Renton near the Boeing facility and nearly everything was subcontracted so that all the parts came together for the first time at Everett. The headquarters of the new company was in Kirkland, just north of Bellevue. Almost every facility they needed was rented to avoid the need for excessive amounts of capital and this was made possible because of the surplus capacity available in the United States commercial aerospace industry. This technique really kept the costs down and Boeing were having a hard time to compete with the new company. Even Airbus in Europe, with the subsidized launch costs from the various national Governments concerned, was feeling the strain. This was the first major accident to an Independant manufactured aircraft and would be an enormous blow to the company. 

It was 11.30 by now and I was feeling tired. It was tempting to stay up and listen to the details of the accident unfolding but I had just decided that I might as well go to bed when the phone rang.
“Peter, Jim Akers here.” 
Jim was the aeronautical correspondent of the Financial Times. It was thanks to him that the FT had commissioned me to write the article on the 798 some months earlier. “Have you heard the news?”
“Yes, Jim. I was actually listening to the aircraft talking to RWA Ops as it was coming in. I couldn’t believe what I was hearing on the hijacking.”

“What do you mean? You actually heard the aircraft talking to the ground?” Jim was a newsman, through and through. I think he felt he had struck oil. “What happened?”

“Well, apparently the hijackers had asked for some prisoners that they wanted to be released and taken to the airport, ready to be loaded on to the aircraft. It was then going to take off again for Karachi.”

“How do you know all this?”

 “I just heard the aircraft requesting confirmation that the prisoners would be available and that the refuelling arrangements were in hand.”

“Was it confirmed?”

“The refuelling was. The Captain said that he had been told to remind Ops that the aircraft would be blown up if there was any delay to the carrying out of the hijackers instructions.”
“Peter, perhaps that was what actually happened? No wonder the aircraft crashed.” Jim paused. “It was Cat 3B weather wasn’t it? That must have made matters worse.”

“Yes it was. The ILS was out of service and the aircraft was making a GESS approach.”

“What do you make of it all?”

“I don’t know. We shall have to wait until AAIB investigates the matter. The real issue at the moment, Jim, is what is happening at the crash site. Were there any survivors? How many people were killed?”

“You are quite right.” Jim sounded slightly chastened. I think he realised that his curiosity for the cause of the accident had got ahead of the mayhem and carnage that must exist on the A30. “I understand that there are some survivors, Peter.”

We didn’t carry on much longer. I guessed that Jim, having listened to me, wanted to update his article on the accident in the FT. I couldn’t resist listening to Radio 5 again. It sounded as if the soccer had been kicked into touch and the accident had taken over.
The announcer said that the situation was completely confused because apparently some terrorists had somehow got on board the aircraft with weapons and overpowered the crew. The story was that the hijackers had been planning to get the Government to release some prisoners, believed to be al-Qaeda, and then to take-off again for somewhere in the Middle East. They were going to blow the aircraft up on the ramp at Heathrow if their orders were not obeyed. Consequently, the police, army, and fire services had all been alerted, ready for the landing. 

The point was made that the accident couldn’t have happened at a worse time. The roads had been very busy as it was the Monday night at the end of the Christmas/New Year holidays and people had been returning to start work the following day. Making an approach to Heathrow, the aircraft had apparently dived into the ground before reaching the airport. The visibility had been reported as less than 30 metres. It had crashed on the road causing a lot of casualties to people travelling in cars, before sliding into a cargo shed just to the left of the approach lights; this had caused the whole front of the aircraft to concertina, but it wasn’t clear whether there had been an explosion, either before or just after the impact. There were several hundred people in the aircraft, the exact number was still being investigated. A lot of the passengers had been killed though there was a significant number of survivors near the back of the upper cabin, who had either been thrown clear or had managed to scramble out of the wreckage. Nearly all the survivors had had to be taken to nearby hospitals. Work had already started in identifying the victims. 

 The news reader went on to say that it was probably the worst air disaster ever in the history of UK aviation, worse even than the accident to the Pan American 747 at Lockerbie many years earlier, though of course not to be compared with 9/11 in New York.
The newscaster explained that because all the Heathrow rescue services had been on stand-by in the airport next to 27L runway, it had taken only a few minutes for the crash crews, fire engines and police to get to the crash, though they were hampered by the appalling visibility. The rescue teams had been working non-stop, assisted by the armed services who had been drafted in to help, but everything was complicated by the fog which was still very thick. Things were made even more difficult by the need for the security forces to cordon off the area and check for weapons and bombs. Even the survivors had to be security checked which made things harder for the ambulance crews and the hospitals. It was going to take a long time dealing with all the injured. The Army and the Air Accident Investigation Branch inspectors, AAIB, were already on the spot looking for the crash recorders and examining all the wreckage and they were getting specialist help from the security experts who had apparently appeared on the scene from nowhere.

I switched the radio off. It was well after midnight. I went to bed and went straight to sleep. It seemed only moments later when the phone rang, waking me up before I was ready. I stretched out, rolled over and lifted the phone off its hook. Even after four years it seemed strange not to feel Diana’s warmth on the other side of the bed. I sensed through the thick curtains that it was still very dark outside. 

“Peter?” It was Mandy, her voice vibrant, urgent, catapulting me from deep sleep to extreme awareness. “There was a terrible accident last night. An aircraft landing at Heathrow crashed on the road outside the airport. I’ve just heard the news on the radio. The passengers included the Foreign Secretary and two or three of his staff. Apparently the aircraft had been hijacked in some way and all the emergency services at the airport had been alerted and were waiting for it to land. Did you hear about it last night on your way home?” 

“What time is it? I’ve only just gone to sleep.”

“It’s alright for some! It’s 6.30 already. I’m on the platform waiting for the train.”

“Mandy. Yes, I did know about the accident. I was listening to the VHF in my car. But I didn’t know about the Foreign Secretary.” I told her about my journey home and the Jim Akers telephone call.

 “Look I’ve got to dash. The train is coming. I’ll call you later. Bye.”

 There was what might have been a perfunctory kiss and she was gone. I rolled over and switched on the radio, the announcer was just giving the headlines. There was to be a statement on the accident by the Prime Minister on radio and TV at 9 o’clock. Telephone numbers to call were given out so that worried families could find out if their relatives were on board, whether they were in hospital, whether their bodies had been found or if they were still missing. These same families might well be needed to help in identification so it was very important indeed that all people who were concerned rang in.
Listening to the news reader, it was clear that the Police, the British Airports Authority, the Fire Services and the local hospitals had all done a marvellous job dealing with the horrendous problems caused by the accident. The Police had set up an Accident Operations Room, conceived and planned several years previously by the Department of Health and Safety with the help of all the local authorities, the British Airports Authority and the rescue services and this Operations Room seemed to have been extremely effective. Less immediately obvious to the uninitiated was the speed with which Air Traffic Control had reacted. The announcer said that Heathrow was now open again using the northern runway but that the weather was still very foggy. 

 The rest of the news followed and then the producer went back to the accident story. In the middle of the night one reporter had managed to find a survivor who was not injured badly, though the reporter remarked that the man had a bandage on the side of his head. The man sounded dazed and it seemed to me that he should have been in hospital, not talking to the reporter. I always felt that no-one should be expected to give an interview in such a situation but the reporter clearly had no such reservations. I wanted to switch the radio off but the survivor’s description was so graphic and heart rending that I found myself listening. 

“The flight from Sydney was fine.” The man sounded very hoarse. He coughed. “I was sitting in a window seat in the middle of Upper Class. We could see the ground most of the way and then the stars as it got dark.” 

He stopped again and we could hear him spluttering. Why he carried on I could not imagine. Perhaps talking about what had happened helped him. 

“I heard a strange noise up front like a muffled explosion of some sort and then about four foreign looking people got up and went through the curtain. Almost immediately afterwards the Captain announced that the aircraft had been hijacked and that no-one was to move from their seats. He said that we were going to land at Heathrow and the situation would then be sorted out.” 

There was a pause and the man started coughing uncontrollably for a few seconds. Surely this interview would be cut short. I found it hard to be believe that, apart from anything else, the security people would allow the interview to be heard. The survivor tried again.

“We were told to remain in our seats, I could see everyone around was as worried as I was. Two swarthy looking men with beards appeared at the front of the two aisles carrying what looked like pistols of some sort. Then cabin staff appeared from the galley behind us and tried to quieten some of the passengers who were panicking.” 

Another long pause and sirens could be heard in the background. The man seemed to pull himself together.

“No more announcements were made. The cabin staff made certain we were strapped in for landing. Everything was very smooth. As we descended, I heard the landing gear go down and then we suddenly went into cloud. Then, just before the crash I saw some lights, caught a glimpse of a house incredibly close, then a car and an enormous bang.”

We could almost hear him shudder. He coughed again, this time very loudly. I was certain that must be the end but somehow the man struggled on.

“The next thing I knew I was lying on the side of the road. I could hear cries for help and frightened shrieks of pain from the wounded and the ringing of mobile phones. There were flames coming from what I took to be the wreckage. It was like a nightmare. Everything was in fog. I could smell burning and there was ice on the ground. I felt numb, lying on some grass. I thought I was in Hell already.” 

We could hear him bursting into tears. Apparently someone had helped him into a nearby house immediately after the crash. The interviewer started to say something but I had had my fill and I switched off the radio. Nobody should be subjected to that sort of interview. 
I knew from the experience of listening to the media dealing with other disasters that there would now be ill-considered discussions purporting to give an in-depth analysis of the situation. The producers would have been scouring the country for expert witnesses and the interviewers would then be bullying the eager interviewees, asking what they thought had happened. Sure enough, when I turned the radio on again there were experts on hijackings saying that this was the first time for many years that terrorists had hijacked an aircraft instead of blowing it up or destroying something on the ground like the Twin Towers in New York. The experts were not clear why the hijackers wanted the aircraft to go to the Middle East, but guessed that they wanted to take the released prisoners to some safe country. They gave their opinion that this was a strange thing to want to do, since even militant Muslim countries would not be keen to accept the aircraft with the hijackers and al-Qaeda people on board. However, if the airplane still had passengers they might be forced to let it land though it was most unlikely that they would free the hijackers and the terrorists they had rescued. 

A security expert was then interviewed and he made the point that even if the aircraft hadn’t crashed it would never have been allowed to take-off again from Heathrow. Another security consultant speculated on how the hijackers had got on board with weapons, and wondered whether the weapons and bombs had been loaded by a member of the ground staff at Sydney. The interviewer asked whether it was dangerous to use a gun in an aircraft and he was told that the weapons were probably the very special small calibre pistols now used by aerial hijackers which could kill but, because the bullets were very soft, the range after coming out of the body was very small, thus making it unlikely that the bullet would affect the aircraft significantly or go through the aircraft skin. It amazed me that that sort of information was allowed to be broadcast for everybody to hear.

One thing was obvious in all the confusion. It was clearly going to be necessary to find out exactly how the hijacking caused the crash. Of course there might be some other explanation but the coincidence of a freak accident whilst a hijacking was taking place seemed unlikely. Since almost all the leading players, flight crew, hijackers, and witnesses would almost certainly be dead, it was going to be incredibly difficult to establish what had really happened. This accident sounded dreadfully like the one that those of us in the business had hoped would never occur, but finding out the how and the why it had happened was going to be even more difficult than anyone might imagine. Luckily, the emergency services had planned for the worst case scenario and their work had to be done regardless of the reason for the crash. For them, the cause of the accident was irrelevant. 

I forced myself to stop listening to the radio and to start getting up. The windows were covered with condensation in spite of the double glazing. I cleaned a patch of moisture away and could just see the house next door where there were some lights in the windows where John and Julia Marchant were clearly already dealing with the new day. It would not be long before John got the car out and headed for Reading closely followed by Julia taking their two children to school. I did not envy them driving in the fog. At least there was some benefit for me working from home, even it was very lonely at times.

 I got dressed into some casual trousers and a pullover, and wandered downstairs. In the kitchen the coffee machine was full of grounds. Tuesday was one of Dora’s days and hopefully my invaluable but rather loquacious help would deal with all the mess from the week-end. Ideally, I would have liked her to come more than twice a week but I could not afford the money to pay her nor the time she seemed to need to discuss her family problems. I made myself a drink and the smell of fresh coffee was reassuring of normality. I wandered into the hall to get the paper.

 The Times was by the front door and I picked it up. ‘Hijacked Aircraft crashes’ was right across the front page and ‘DISASTER in freezing fog’ headed another column discussing the weather. It seemed to be a fact of life that every time an aircraft crashed, the eyewitnesses said the aircraft had exploded or was on fire just before it hit the ground. Perhaps in this case for once it might even be true. Just below the headline the page was filled with a foggy picture of the burning aircraft in the middle of some just discernible cars and people, possibly survivors, wandering near the wreckage. I scanned the paper rapidly. Clearly, at the time the newspaper was going to press there was still so much confusion that the reporters had been unable to get a full understanding of the situation but it was expected that at least three hundred people had been killed. The papers had managed to discover somehow before they went to press that the Foreign Secretary had been a passenger and that the airport had been on security alert just prior to landing. The survivors of the crash had been rushed to hospitals by ambulance but the paper said that it was still proving extremely difficult in view of the very thick fog. It was obvious that the reporters had not been able to get particularly close to the wreckage themselves due to the weather and the security cordon which the army had managed to get round the crash site fairly soon after the accident. Because of the fog, helicopters could not be used to rescue the wounded. It must have been a horrendous situation though the police seemed to have had excellent liaison with the security forces. I shuddered involuntarily. What a terrible mess and how appalling for the all the dependents and the survivors. 

 I went into the front room and turned the television on. The Chairman of the Civil Aviation Authority was being questioned and doing a very good job of standing up to the grilling he was receiving. I always admired the way politicians and public figures kept their temper when being subjected to probing from interviewers who, it seemed to me, were as much interested in making a name for themselves as for informing the public. Presumably in the current situation the Civil Aviation Authority Chairman could not refuse to be interviewed and, as usual, he did a first class job. He pointed out that it was going to be very difficult to establish the cause of the accident since it was known that there must have been at least one hijacker on the flight deck giving instructions to the captain during the approach and landing. He added that the Secretary of State for Transport was of course responsible for investigating the cause of aircraft accidents in this country and no doubt he would be making a statement. 
The interviewer asked if the 798 was really safe and the Chairman patiently explained that questions like that had no meaning since safety in any field, be it aviation, nuclear power stations, food production or indeed in any industry, was a matter of acceptable risks and probabilities. The only certainty in life was that we were all going to die. With regard to the 798, the aircraft had a valid UK certificate of airworthiness but it had actually been certificated by the relatively new European Aviation Safety Agency, EASA, based in Cologne. In the unlikely event that safety questions of the 798 needed to be addressed, then questions would have to be addressed to the EASA since aircraft certification was no longer the direct responsibility of the UK Government and the Civil Aviation Authority; European law made the ratification of the EASA type certificate mandatory. 
The newscaster gave up trying to get incautious statements from the CAA Chairman. Because of the fog the TV reporters had been unable to get any eyewitnesses. Luckily, the survivor from the aircraft who had given the interview in the middle of the night had seemingly gone to hospital or to bed. They did manage to find one or two people who had arrived on the spot just after the accident. Their stories were horrific and I was not sure that getting these people to tell their experiences on TV actually helped in any way but merely encouraged the ghouls. Luckily when the security forces had cordoned off the whole area, the media producers and their reporters had been prevented from raking over the details. Of course it was understandable that this crash, as with other crashes in the past, was a subject of great interest but in reality nothing was ever gained by trying to guess instantaneously the cause of an accident before it had been thoroughly investigated. In this case, with the Foreign Secretary on board and with terrorists as well, it was clear that the actual sequence of events that led to the crash was going to be even more complicated than usual to determine, since there seemed little chance of there being a survivor who would know what had happened. Because air transportation was so safe, it was only occurrences like hijacking or an unlikely combination of circumstances which resulted in aircraft accidents and it usually required great detective work by the accident inspection experts to discover what had actually gone wrong. 

 I turned the television off and went into the office, still thinking of the evening before. Mandy, my current girl friend, had produced a splendid meal and we did not hurry. I had planned to leave much earlier but it was after seven by the time I had got away. For the first time I realised that Mandy must be playing a much larger part in my life than I had previously thought, or indeed cared to admit even to myself. We had met a few months earlier travelling across the Atlantic to Seattle when I was visiting Boeing and the Independant Transport Aircraft Company and she was going to Portland to deal with some business on behalf of one of her clients. We were gradually getting to know one another but were being very cautious in developing a relationship as we had each been hurt by affairs in the past. I think we both felt there was a possibility that our increasingly frequent meetings could develop into something more enduring. We had not yet consummated our relationship but clearly the time could not be too far away. 

 Mandy was a hard working partner in a small firm of solicitors in the City but she lived in Bournemouth because she liked sailing in her spare time. She travelled up to London every day by train leaving at 6.30 and was lucky if she got home before 8 o’clock in the evening. 

 Mandy was not dissimilar physically from Diana, but then in my experience men often chose a second partner rather like their first and I was no exception. She was quite tall, maybe 5 ft. 7 in. but still comfortably below my 5 ft. 11 in. She was very trim, not running to fat and her breasts jutted out provocatively, the way I liked in any satisfactory sexual relationship, though my alter ego was always reminding me that lasting relationships are in the mind, not in the body. Mandy’s hair was light but not blonde. She kept her hair short and businesslike, as one would expect in a solicitor’s office. She wore glasses most of the time since she was long sighted, but I noticed that she always wore contact lenses when we were going out.

It was now 9 o’clock and I switched on the television set on the shelf over my computer. The Prime Minister came on and briefly repeated the details of the accident. He confirmed that the loss of life was indeed the worst in British aviation history, worse even than Lockerbie.

“We are still investigating the exact circumstances of the flight but we know that some people who we have reason to believe were terrorists, attacked and killed two passengers in the upper sleeping compartment of the 798. The Foreign Secretary was on board returning to London and his body has now been identified. The hijackers seem to have entered the flight deck area together with the Foreign Secretary, held the crews captive, and then Captain Hodgson was ordered to land normally at Heathrow. After landing, the aircraft was to be refuelled and the terrorists demanded that the six named al-Qaeda terrorists we captured two months ago were to be released from prison and taken out to the aircraft. The terrorists then intended that the aircraft would take-off again for somewhere in the Middle East where all the passengers would then be released. As a result of this message which was sent by satellite to Royal World Airlines flight operations, all the security and crash services were either standing by for the aircraft to land or on their way through the fog.

“As you all know the aircraft crashed on the A30 and then caught fire. There may have been an explosion either just before or just after the impact and this is being investigated. I have declared a state of emergency in view of the security aspects of this crash and because the aircraft has crashed on the A30, very close to houses and vital airline operational buildings at Hatton Cross. I hope to be able to relax the emergency very quickly once the fog has cleared and the police and security forces have the situation completely under control.

“As usual the Air Accident Investigation Branch will carry out its normal function to discover the real cause of the accident, helped in this special case by the security investigators. I need the co-operation of all who are involved to help the families who have been so tragically, unexpectedly and suddenly bereaved. There is no need for anyone except the people concerned with the accident to go to the accident site and I have asked the police to use their emergency powers to remove summarily any people near the accident who have gone just to look or to take pictures or videos. I must remind you that many of the victims came from overseas and I have sent a personal message of sympathy to the Australian Prime Minister since I understand there were many Australian nationals on board. I want you all to co-operate with the police and the authorities to get the situation back to normal.

“If anyone has any special information about the accident which might help the investigation of its cause, would he or she please call this special number at 10 Downing Street, since I am personally committed to finding out exactly what happened and to ensuring that nothing like it can ever occur again.” 

 The telephone number appeared at the bottom of the screen. I sympathised with the Prime Minister. This accident was going to make his normal heavy workload even heavier. It would be a testing time for him and inevitably he would be judged by how he responded to the crisis. I remembered in the USA, when the Twin Towers were destroyed, how President Bush went up in people’s estimation as he gave voice to the pent-up feelings of the population and took all the necessary action to discover what had caused the explosion. In all probability this accident would have been caused by interference in some way from the hijackers with the flight crew during the landing in fog. Hopefully, the crash recorders would yield some vital clues.

Of course, it was all very well for the Prime Minister to be determined that a similar accident would never happen again but it would depend on the accident investigators finding out what had actually occurred. Aircraft always have accidents however hard the manufacturers, certification authorities and regulators try to prevent them and planes were liable to have hijackers and bombs on board, however rigorous the inspection. 
Aircraft were always at their greatest risk from accidents when they were landing and having hijackers on the flight deck was bound to be a recipe for disaster. Everything had to be right for a safe landing and, however hard the regulating authorities tried, one could never allow completely for the unpredictability of the human pilot in the control loop. In this case, the weather conditions were clearly at the limit for a safe landing so the presence of hijackers would have made the situation that much harder for the crew. Thankfully, judging by the number of people reported killed, the Independant 798 had not been full since it could carry many more on inter-continental flights, much more in fact than the previous world’s largest aircraft, the Airbus A380.

For me every aircraft accident was very important. When I had stopped flying two years previously and become a consultant to the airlines, I had decided to specialise in giving training courses on the modern airliner flight deck. It seemed to me that it was necessary to emphasise the need for the pilots to keep a critical awareness of the aircraft’s control systems and not get lulled into a false sense of security by the superb flight deck displays and computers which had taken the place of the specialist navigators, flight engineers and radio operators. After the second World War it took five flight crew to take forty or fifty passengers across the Atlantic; now two pilots could take nearly a thousand people across the world much more efficiently and safely. However, the modern aircraft was incredibly complicated and the job could only be done by relying on computers, both to fly the aircraft efficiently and to manage the systems. 

Most of the time nowadays pilots had very little physically to do actually flying the aircraft, after the computers had been loaded with the flight plan, but watch the aircraft being controlled automatically half way round the world along the planned flight path until it had landed and was rolling along the runway. The pilots’ main task en route was getting the clearances that were required to enable the aircraft to follow the optimum flight path. The problem was that there were more and more aircraft flying the routes, not at identical speeds, and chasing the local air traffic centre for a new altitude or for a change in routing was a considerable task. 
 It was very difficult earning a living trying to persuade the airlines that their pilots needed to do more training than the minimum amount required from the aircraft manufacturer and the regulating authorities. I had to convince the airlines that I understood more about the aircraft systems and the way their crews reacted than they did and that spending money with me would improve the total airline performance. Safety was always a difficult thing to sell because achieving it was seen as a cost, spoiling the airlines’ profits. To be fair, good airline management realised that it was vital to have a reputation for safety, since there was always plenty of airline competition to take the travellers elsewhere if there was a feeling that an airline was unsafe. The airlines knew that discounting the ticket prices would never make western world passengers travel in aircraft or with airlines that had an unsafe reputation. The problem for me was always that the flight training staff in the big airlines did not like having outsiders doing their work or telling them what to do. Still, I was managing to get some work from some of the large flag carriers. 
 The telephone rang. It was the Chief Pilot of Royal World Airlines, John Chester, on his direct line. Understandably, he did not waste any time in coming to the point. He wanted us to meet as soon as possible, but not in his office. He had to come into London to brief his Chairman and I suggested we met in the Royal Ocean Racing Club for a sandwich. He said that he would probably be able to get there sometime after one o’clock and rang off. Though I was very curious as to the reason why he wanted to talk to me, I decided not to add to his problems by wasting time asking questions. 

 I had got to know John well some years back when we were both members of the Technical Committee of the Guild of Air Pilots and Air Navigators, GAPAN, and also of the Society of Automotive Engineers S7 Flight Deck Committee. He had had to leave the committees when he was promoted within the airline but we kept in touch and I think it was largely because of him that his training staff gave me some work, particularly in specialist areas of navigation and in the difficult design task of managing the systems, that is trying to get the right relationship between the pilot and the computers which controlled the aircraft. We had both seen coming this very important human factor problem and we had both been nervous of very clever technical pilots who encouraged the aircraft designers to make too many fancy alternatives available to the line pilot. John and I belonged to the ‘keep it simple’ school of thought.

 I tried to finish the proposal I was writing for American Airlines to provide training in Dallas to their senior training personnel but my mind kept returning to the accident and my conversation with John Chester. I could not stop trying to work out what had happened to cause the disaster. I switched on the television set again. The newscaster was interviewing the Chief Constable who was explaining about the emergency Accident Operations Room and the co-ordination required to deal with the fire brigades, the traffic handling, the army, the security people, the AAIB investigators, and the ambulances which were getting survivors to the hospitals and the dead to the mortuaries, all in the fog.

The interview was followed by a talk with the Chief Airport Fire Officer. He gave a very low key understated description of the devastation and carnage at the scene of the accident which somehow, because of its very restraint, was the more disturbing. The TV cameras had at last managed to get on to the airfield’s southern perimeter road so that it was just possible to see the scene of the accident through the fog over the top of some buildings. The pictures were unbelievable. Wreckage of parts of aircraft could be seen everywhere, one of the engines was standing on end.

 There were still a lot of fire engines and ambulances on the scene. The cameras zoomed in to show a body without a cover being carried away to the back of a nearby ambulance. It was a terrible sight and must have been immeasurably worse for those people actually there and for the anxious relatives and friends watching and waiting at home. I switched the set off and almost immediately the telephone rang again. Mandy had reached the office and, despite all her appointments, she had found time to call to hear my reactions. 

“I’ve made it but quite a few haven’t. Some managed to get in from the south west by taking wide detours. I think the fog is clearing slightly and it isn’t freezing any more.”

She sounded breathless. I was not too surprised about the number of people who had managed to get into work despite the problems. Life is about survival and people are always very resourceful in times of difficulty. Because the accident had taken place the previous evening a lot of drivers had been able to make contingency plans. 

“However,” she carried on, “I expect the time-table in the courts will be affected. Many of the judges will not have been able to make it unless they lived in town.” She paused. “But Peter, what do you think happened?”

 I could think of nothing useful to say. I knew nothing and hated speculating. 

“It’s too early to say yet. Almost anything might have happened with hijackers on board. They could have shot the pilot, they might have exploded a bomb, the pilots could have had their attention diverted and made a mistake. The problem is that the accident will almost certainly be due to the hijackers in some way if not completely, but it may not be straightforward, which is going to make finding the exact cause very difficult. Aircraft are so safe that accidents inevitably occur only when there is a most unlikely combination of circumstances. I may know a bit more later on as John Chester phoned and we are meeting at the RORC.”

 She latched on to that straightaway. 

“Be careful when you talk to John. Don’t offer advice unless he is going to be your client. If he called you then there must be something worrying him which he knows and you don’t. Listen and learn all you can. Don’t volunteer.”

“I’ll do my best.” 
 As usual she was giving good advice, but she was not so emotionally involved as I was. She was in a competitive business with her own clients but she had the enormous advantage of the support of her partnership. I was a one-man band, struggling to make ends meet and she was concerned that I was not commercial enough. She felt that in my eagerness to help to find the reasons for the accident I would offer gratuitous advice and might spend a lot of time helping John and others without any reward. She knew, faced with the need to find out what had gone wrong, that I would find it very difficult not to enter into long discussions to solve the problem and I appreciated her concern. However, in the case of force majeure, the normal sequence for investigations was difficult to apply. Lawyers were trained to be commercial, however harrowing the circumstances, but Mandy knew I found this a difficult concept.

“I’ll call you later when I get out of court though I expect in the circumstances they will defer the hearing.”

 I finished my proposal to American, made an airmail package for the post office and then went in to the kitchen. Dora was probably on the wrong side of fifty and had been married twice. She had had two children from her first husband, who had died from a heart attack, and they were now grown up and both working somewhere in London. Fred, her second husband, had left home fairly soon after they got married but not before helping to conceive Jenny. Dora was having to bring up Jenny on her own and was not able to get Fred to send her money regularly. She looked after her figure and had not let her appearance run to seed though things were clearly pretty difficult for her. She worked long hours as a domestic help to make ends meet. Inevitably, Dora immediately started asking me questions about the crash but I avoided saying anything, since I knew that anything I did say would be noted and quoted at the Fox and Hounds later in the day while Jenny was doing her homework. I pleaded ignorance.

 It was quarter to eleven by now but I had a little time in hand so I went back into the dining room, switching the TV on again while looking for some technical papers I had on the 798. The announcer was giving an update on the crash. The crash recorder with all the flight information had been found but the cockpit voice recorder was still missing. RWA were bringing Australian relatives of the killed and injured to London as quickly as possible. Independant had managed to get some specialist crash investigation engineers on the regular RWA flight out of Seattle the previous night, the moment they had heard about the accident. They had also chartered a special flight to bring more engineers to London and the team was headed by Bob Parnell, President of the Independant Transport Aircraft Company. 
Like all aircraft companies, Independant had always responded immediately to the few incidents that had occurred previously to their aircraft. This particular accident would be especially important for them, even though it was bound to be due in some way to the hijacking. The aircraft type was comparatively new and did not have the millions of flying hours behind it like Boeing airplanes, the 737s, the 757s, the 767s, the 747s, the 777s and the 787s. RWA was one of Independant’s biggest customers and only had a few Boeing and Airbus aircraft. Airbus were trying very hard to persuade RWA to support Europe and buy their latest A380 from Toulouse. Independant, and of course Boeing, were watching the situation closely and trying to match the Airbus salesmen. The cause of the accident had to be found straightaway to prevent Airbus or Boeing taking advantage of Royal World Airway’s bad luck. No wonder Parnell was coming over to talk to the Chairman and Managing Director of the airline. 

 I turned the TV off and found the papers which Independant had given me when I was writing my article on the 798. There was a magnificent data dump of material weighing about 10 lb. which, splendid though it was, unfortunately made it very difficult to find anything. Realising the problem, Independant had thoughtfully also provided me with a summary book. The 798 was fairly conventional in design though using a lot of carbon fibre in the structure. The only new development on the flying side was that the electrical cables connecting the flight control computers to the control surfaces had been replaced with fibre optic cables, but this technology was now well established on military aircraft. It had the great advantage of reducing the effect of the computers, telephones and radios that some passengers brought on board the aircraft and used illicitly, despite the warnings of the flight crew, determined apparently to see if they could make their flights kamikaze missions. The design and inter-linking of the computers, called the system architecture, made sure that no conceivable electrical failure would result in loss of control. I could see nothing unusual in the 798 which might give cause for any concern. I devoutly hoped that the accident had been due to the hijacking and it clearly was the most likely cause. I guessed that that would be the prayer of the whole of the aerospace and airline industry.

 I put the papers in my brief case with a writing pad and went up to the bedroom to change into a standard grey suit, white shirt, blue tie and black shoes. Formality was essential to enable an efficient interchange of information to take place without getting side-tracked into other matters. Soft shoes, slacks and a polo necked pullover might keep the wearer warm and comfortable but I always felt that such informal dress did not create the right atmosphere for important exchanges of information. Everybody had to have a uniform to inspire confidence and to enable work to be done as quickly as possible. It seemed to me that offices that had relaxed the rules, certainly when dealing with other organisations, regretted it later.

 The phone rang again. 

“Peter, it’s Carol Trentham. Remember?” I remembered alright. She came straight to the point. She hadn’t changed in that at least during the years since we had last met. 

“I’m worried stiff. Richard hasn’t called me. Can you find out if he was on the plane?” 

 For a moment I was speechless. 

“Peter, are you there?”

“Yes, Carol. I can hear you. Tell me what has Richard been doing?” I first knew Richard Trentham when we were both junior first officers on Britannia Airways. He had had the opportunity to join Cathay Pacific based in London flying the Airbus A330 and he had leapt at the chance. We had not seen each other for some years though he was also a member of GAPAN. 

“He’s been flying for ten days operating between Hong Kong and Sydney and he told me he was hoping to find a way of dead heading back to London for some leave. He should have left yesterday. I’m so frightened, Peter. I fear the worst. I’m sure he’s dead. I took the children to school in Amersham this morning without saying anything. What am I to do?”

“Have you called Cathay in London?”

“Yes I did. I called flight operations the moment I heard the news at seven this morning. They’re trying to find out but they have not called me back. Can you call Royal World Airlines to find out for me? I must know.”

 I hesitated again trying to make up my mind what to do for the best. I had known Carol long before I met Richard. 

“Look, by chance I am just going in to London to meet John Chester of Royal World Airlines.” I wasn’t sure if she would know that John was Director of Flight Operations. “I’ll have a word with him and call you from London. Will you be at home?”

“Yes. I’ll be there until about three when I have to collect the kids. Forgive me for calling you but I know I can rely on you to help.” She rang off.

 I felt appalled. The accident was bad enough but suddenly to find I was deeply involved was devastating. I had not seen Carol for some time but some relationships can never be forgotten. I knew in my heart of hearts that Richard was dead, or seriously injured at the very least. He would have called Carol the moment he had heard about the accident if he had still been in Sydney. What a terrible mess. 

 I looked at my watch. I was going to miss my train unless I got a move on. It was no use taking the car as I might not be able to find somewhere to park. I collected my brief case, put on my overcoat and gloves, said good bye to Dora and almost ran to the station. The train was on time in spite of the fog and I only just caught it. It was not full and I was able to do some more thinking about the 798 as the train travelled to Waterloo. I caught the Bakerloo line to Piccadilly Circus and then walked along Piccadilly in the grey mist until I reached Green Park. Walking was one of my favourite activities in order to keep reasonably fit and I enjoyed looking at the shops and the people. The park had the feel and smell of winter with the dead leaves lying on the ground as I went down the tarmac walk and then turned into the tunnel which led to the top end of St. James Place and the RORC. I entered the key code, pushed the door open and went upstairs. 

 John was not due for another twenty minutes and he could well be late. I ordered a tomato juice, picked up the Financial Times and sat down in the corner. The Club was not very full and nowadays I did not know many people there. I had joined in my youth when I was at Cambridge reading electrical engineering and spending all my spare time racing in the Channel. When I started flying for a living and got married, there did not seem time for racing and, anyway, Diana had never been very keen on sailing though we had sailed over to France once or twice. In fact, it was because I was not well known in the club that I thought it was a good place to meet up with John. I had avoided the Royal Air Force Club, full of mutual acquaintances who would have tried cross questioning John the moment they saw him.

Looking at the FT, I saw that Jim Akers had written a very good article about the accident and all the implications, perhaps not altogether surprising after our talk at midnight. Still, how it was possible to put together articles of such quality at such short notice always baffled me since I never wrote anything unless I had researched it very carefully. In his article Jim had suggested that the chances were that, because air transportation was so safe, the accident was almost certainly due to the hijacking. 

 Jim also touched on the legal issues. If the cause was due to some form of hijacking then the claimants might find it very difficult to get money from the airline, though they would try and prove negligence when the passengers were being loaded and, therefore, name the Sydney airport authorities as co-defendants in the case. If the cause was not due to hijacking, then of course it was the airlines and/or the aircraft manufacturer that would be sued in the event of an accident and, conceivably, the defendants could include the certificating authorities. However, one of the points made in this article amplified the point made in the interview I had watched with the Chairman of the Civil Aviation Authority. The 798 was one of the first large aircraft on the UK register which had been certificated, not by the Safety Regulation Group of the UK Civil Aviation Authority, SRG, but by the new European Aviation Safety Agency, and the Safety Regulation Group of the CAA had to carry out a mandatory ratification of the type certificate because of the European Commission rules. The effect of this change meant that passengers or their dependents could no longer make a case against their own Governments for failing to certificate an aircraft properly but would have to try to take legal action against the EASA, which might be difficult to do, or against the European Commission itself. Whether the cause of the accident was proved to be due to some form of terrorism or not, it looked like a legal minefield with rich pickings for the lawyers, but only time would show how things would work out.

 Someone switched the television set on in the bar in time for the news headlines. The cockpit voice recorder still had not been found. The police were diverting all the traffic down the Causeway and along the A316 to the Clockhouse Lane roundabout. It was going to take a long, long time to collect all the wreckage from the A30 and the surrounding area. The death toll had risen to 383; it was very high in spite of the relatively slow speed of the aircraft on the approach because of the impact with the cargo shed. It was still not known if there had been an explosion. There had been 530 passengers and crew on the aircraft, mostly UK nationals but, as the Prime Minister had indicated, there were quite a lot of Australians. It was not known exactly how many people had been killed on the ground by the aircraft but it looked like somewhere between thirty and forty. The whole thing seemed unbelievable. It was indeed the nightmare accident that we had all feared, if for a different reason. Aircraft travel was now incredibly safe but, when an accident did happen to a large, long range aircraft, a lot of people got killed. 

 John arrived looking his normal distinguished self. Immaculately dressed, no-one would have guessed he had been up most of the night. How he managed it I didn’t know. John was just over 6ft with very dark wavy hair which somehow had escaped any dilution with grey, notwithstanding he was on the wrong side of fifty. It occurred to me that he must be using some hair colouriser, but men I noticed never discussed these matters. I had decided the best thing to do was to ignore the suggestion of a sandwich and to take him straight into the dining room where I had booked a table at the far end, out of the way. John, not surprisingly, looked very serious and I decided to let him start the ball rolling. He did not want a drink and we both ordered soup and the grilled plaice. There was a couple fairly close to us, luckily seemingly more interested in themselves than in anything else. There was also a crew of four near the door way out of earshot.

“The exact cause is a complete mystery, Peter, but it’s almost certainly due to the hijacking by terrorists.” he started. “However, I wanted to talk to you because I am worried that the accident might be due to the pilots having done the wrong thing for some reason, maybe connected with the hijacking or maybe not. You’re giving lectures to our training courses so you’re probably as knowledgeable as anybody on the flight deck/crew interface. Harry Hodgson was in charge and he was one of the most experienced Captains.” 
I gulped. No wonder I thought I recognised the voice. We both knew Harry socially as well as professionally since, as I had guessed, he too was a member of GAPAN. He paused as the waiter, a new one I did not recognise, brought the soup over. John took a roll and buttered it but he did not really notice what he was doing. He was reviewing the whole situation and describing it to me with great precision. I listened carefully but did not comment.
“Nothing unusual had happened on the early part of the flight according to our flight operation department’s log except that the Captain’s Navigation Display failed. There had been the normal position reports from the crew, using the INMARSAT communication satellites, which backed up the automatic satellite position reports that the air traffic centre at Swanwick had sent to us as they got them. Harry flew the aircraft for the first six hours and then he went to one of the two pilot’s sleeping cabins in the flight deck area and in front of the VIP area. His first officer Charles Tumbrill went into the other cabin an hour later. The other crew, Dick Tremlett and Frank Mercer, took over and flew across Asia and Harry then went back on the flight deck. 

“Thank God Peter that we took your advice on making the crew enter their identification numbers and passwords into the Flight Management System before the 30 minute position report goes out. The FMS now enables us to track what is going on during these long flights. By the way, the aircraft had the latest type of cockpit voice recorder, so there should be a record of the last two hours of the flight when they find the recorder instead of the earlier thirty minutes of recording on older cockpit voice recorders.

“Charles came onto the flight deck an hour later. The weather en-route was reported to be good though they had been flying into a stronger headwind than had been forecast. They did not have as much fuel as expected when they flew over Warsaw but our operations department released them to go on to Frankfurt. The weather in London was Category 3B, indeterminate cloud base, freezing fog and a visibility of 20 metres. About one hour fifty minutes before landing Harry reported that they had been hijacked. He was being told to land at Heathrow as planned and then the aircraft was to be refuelled immediately so that they could fly on to somewhere in the Middle East. Meanwhile the Government were to collect the six al-Qaeda prisoners they had captured recently and take them to the aircraft. We did not know where the aircraft was supposed to be going and so we calculated the fuel to Karachi. Once the prisoners were on board the aircraft, it would depart straightaway. If the authorities tried to prevent the aircraft taking off then the terrorists said that it would be blown up on the ground. About the same time as Harry was talking to our operations, Eurocontrol advised London Approach that the aircraft was transmitting the emergency hijack code.

“Our operations then rechecked the fuel on board at Frankfurt and cleared the aircraft all the way to London. They should have had about 70 minutes fuel left as they started their final approach on 27L, just within limits for diversion to Manchester where the weather was good.”

 The waiter took our soup dishes away. I decided to keep my questions back so as not to disturb the flow.

“Charles made a routine report to Operations and then went back to talk to Air Traffic. About fifteen minutes before landing Harry said that he was being told to check that refuelling was available, that the prisoners were at the airport and that a flight plan was being prepared for Karachi. I had arrived on the scene by then and I told our dispatcher to confirm that all was ready, though Air Traffic would be able to advise on the whereabouts of the prisoners to be uploaded. There was no point in telling him what was really planned and in any event we didn’t really know in detail, since the police were giving instructions to the British Airport Authorities on where the aircraft was to be parked. Harry said that he would call after landing and the next thing our Operations knew was a report from Air Traffic that there had been an accident and Operations could get no reply from the aircraft, G-RWAGH by the way.” 
 I knew from the time when I did some lectures to the first RWA crews that the Royal World Airlines 10 798s had been registered G-RWAGE to G-RWAGN so that G-RWAGH, Golf Hotel as it was colloquially called using the phonetic alphabet, was not particularly new. Clearly, there was going to have to be a lot of investigative work done correlating the communications between Air Traffic and the aircraft and between Royal World Airlines flight operations department and the aircraft. 

“After Harry had said that they were going to land at Heathrow, were there any other communications about the hijacking?”

“No, none at all. From that point onwards during the approach the flight seemed to be routine. Harry presumably was concentrating on the landing, albeit in very difficult circumstances with hijackers there.”

“Do we have any idea at all if anything unusual happened during the approach.” 
“Not really, Peter. The aircraft seems to have kept to the runway centre line but something must have happened to make it go below the glide slope. Our problem in RWA now is that all the communication tapes have been impounded by the AAIB and it is going to take some days before the whole flight path can be ascertained. But that’s not going to tell us what happened inside the aircraft. Let’s hope they find the cockpit voice recorder soon and that it is not damaged. We have to find out what happened.”

“What sort of approach was he doing?”

“We don’t know for sure, Peter, and Air Traffic won’t talk to us but the Instrument Landing System, ILS, on 27L was out of service. Anyway it is no longer approved for Category 3 approaches so he would have had to select the Galileo European Satellite System to navigate down the approach, not really desirable in my opinion for Category 3 approaches, though it is certificated and seems to work well.”

 He paused expectantly, clearly waiting for me to ask some more questions. Mandy’s advice was ringing in my ears and I decided not to probe too deeply. 
“John, you don’t need me to tell you that the problem here is going to be very different from most accidents because of the hijacking. Normally, if nothing obvious is found wrong then the simple thing is for everyone to blame the pilots but this time it could be the hijackers. Obviously pilots can make mistakes because they are careless or because they are misled by the information presented on the flight deck or, in this case perhaps, because they are being distracted from what they are doing. This investigation is going to be very difficult unless there is some stroke of luck to indicate the cause or it can be proved to be due to the hijackers. It could be a lawyer’s dream.”

“You’re right of course,” John said. He was hesitating and I wondered if he was hiding something from me. Since the cause must surely be due to the terrorist hijackers, why on earth had John called me to meet him? He must know something he hadn’t told me. I felt sure that he had had second thoughts about what he was going to tell me. Perhaps his boss Jack Chiltern, Royal World Airlines Managing Director, had warned him not to discuss anything outside the airline. Perhaps there was a security angle to which I was not privy. The waiter brought our grilled plaice and the conversation stopped as we ate our meal.

“When did you eat last?” I decide to change the subject for a moment and noticed that John had started to eat as if he was very hungry. 

“I had a sandwich at about midnight last night. We were just about to have a late dinner when the phone rang telling me about the phone hijack. Somehow I haven’t had much time for anything else except coffee.” He smiled, glad to get away for the moment from the worries that surrounded him. “I got three or four hours sleep in the office but the phone never stopped ringing. I had to speak to Marcia, Harry’s wife, told her that there was still hope, but not much. She took it very bravely but it seems so hard.” He swallowed for a moment and managed to compose himself again. 

“Also I had to speak to the other families, all very difficult. The media have been terrible and we had to take our phones off the hook. The direct line to Operations came into its own. Mind you the MD wasn’t too pleased when he wanted to talk to me and couldn’t get through. I had to give him my mobile number.” He grinned.

“The police at Hounslow with their accident centre are acting as the central reporting point and relaying the information on to us. We have a copy of the passenger/crew manifest which we are trying to keep up to date.” 

“Do you know which passengers were the hijackers?”

“No. We have no idea but the fact that they wanted to go somewhere in the Middle East suggests they were Muslim terrorists, almost certainly al-Qaeda. We believe that some of the hijackers were seated on the upper deck near the front, Upper Class. I’ve no idea if they were all killed but the security people will sort that out. Goodness knows how they got the weapons.” 

“You must have had a job getting here.”

“Well yes. Luckily, my office on the North side of the airport is some way from the crash and so I managed to get out using the northern perimeter road, get home, see Jane, shower and change before coming into Town to see Jack. I hope I will be able to get back to the Office but it is going to be quite difficult. My driver is an expert on all the side roads so I suppose we will make it. How he got into work this morning I don’t know. The A4 and M4 were completely blocked with traffic trying to get into London.”

 He came back to the present. 

“Peter, I’m very worried about this whole thing, not just because of the accident but because I was one of the strongest advocates for the aircraft. If the accident is not due to the hijackers then I might be in some difficulty. You see, in order to keep the total package price to a minimum and the Independant bid competitive, I persuaded the Board that we should have almost the identical technical specification for the aircraft as United and American Airlines and this was not too popular. The Chairman seemed to want to be the launch customer for the latest larger version of the Airbus A380 on the grounds that we ought to be good Europeans and clearly the Department of Industry felt that this would be the correct thing to do. The MD, as always, wanted an easy life and would have gone along with the Chairman.

“I argued that all my pilots were used to the Independant flight decks and that the Airbus flight decks might be safe enough but were not as safe as the Independant aircraft. I really believe that Peter, but think how it would look if this was pilot error due to the Independant design philosophy. Francis supported me because the whole of the engineering maintenance system was based on the Independant concept. Changing to Airbus would have been very expensive and would have been confusing for the engineers. The operating economics of the two aircraft were very similar, so Jack and the Chairman couldn’t very well overrule us. It was a very close run thing because Airbus were criticising the electronic architecture on the aircraft. At the final meeting a couple of the non-execs. started pushing the Airbus.”

“Well John, the hijacking is bound to have had an influence on the crew when they were making the approach. I think you’re worrying unnecessarily.”

 I didn’t say anything more. Francis Thomas had been the RWA engineering director at the time the 798 decision was taken but he had retired two years ago. I knew that Roger Williams, John’s deputy, would love to take over from John and the fact that Margaret, his wife, was Jack Chiltern’s daughter would probably not spoil his chances. I suspected that Airbus had been trying to persuade Roger as hard as they could. Certainly he and his wife were always going to France on holiday and visiting Toulouse!

 I could visualise the Royal World Airlines Board meeting when the agenda item for the 798 decision came up for discussion. The Board would have already had all the supporting papers but there would have been a presentation by the finance director explaining the financial implications of purchasing a new aircraft. There would have been a summary paper highlighting the pros and cons of the A380 and the Independant 798 and the non-executive directors would probably have started probing. John and Francis would have explained why they favoured the 798. It was anyone’s guess how hard Airbus had been influencing the various Board members but from what John said it was pretty clear that at least some of the non-executives had been talking to Airbus. Stories were legion on the way aircraft decisions were made by airlines all round the World. 

 In the Middle East, buyer’s commission was an accepted way to proceed, decision makers expected to be rewarded for their choice. In the Western World such payments were frowned upon, but payments are not always made with money and it is unlikely that some form of reward had not been made for aircraft decisions in the past, both in the USA and the UK. The problem was that the prize for winning was so great, the cost of each aircraft so high and the value of the reward needed to sway the decision maker’s choice was so very small. Of course with a large Board no single person ever made the decision, but that did not prevent the aircraft manufacturers from trying.

 John took his telephone out of his pocket. He had it turned off but switched it on to get the messages. He listened for a few minutes as the waiter took our plates away. He made one or two notes and then he dialled a number. “Hello Jill? How’s the office.” 

 Jill Stanton at the other end, a devoted secretary of a certain age, started to give him a run down. “OK. I will be about an hour if the traffic permits.” He turned his phone off.

“I just have time for a very quick coffee.” he decided. We went into the bar and helped ourselves. There were a couple of seats free by the library. “Thanks for listening to me, Peter. I may have some work for you depending on how things are looking. We will just have to wait and see how things develop. 

“By the way, you should know that we have just heard that one of the survivors miraculously was the off duty first officer, Frank Mercer. He’s unconscious but let’s hope he gets better and will be able to help.”

 I grabbed my moment. “Look John. I don’t think you knew Richard Trentham. He’s in the Guild and he works for Cathay. We were pilots together on Britannia. His wife has been on the phone to me. Richard was due home to-day dead heading from Sydney and he hasn’t called. How can I find out if he was on the plane?”

 He looked really upset and passed me his card. 

“Call my secretary, Jill Stanton. This is my direct line. She’ll know what to do. I’m so sorry” 
 John collected his brief case and went downstairs to where his car was waiting. I watched the Jaguar drive down past the Stafford and turn left towards St. James. The problem for John, now that he was so senior in the organisation, was that he was under pressures which most of the workers didn’t appreciate. I felt a bit mean adding to his burden by mentioning Richard. The pay at the top may be good but the hours are long and the responsibilities are enormous. John was good at delegating as much as he could, but he knew that in the end he was responsible. Of course some managers seemed to manage by delegating everything and never being responsible for anything. I always felt that Jack Chiltern came into that category, he was very adroit at making sure that the buck never stopped with him. In my experience, many chairmen and managing directors of large public companies, however competent they were, had qualities, in order to get to the top, which did not endear them to their fellow men.

 After John left I helped myself to another coffee. I wasn’t sure whether to ring Carol first or John’s secretary. I had met Carol in my first year at Cambridge. We were both at Trinity but she was reading languages while I was doing my electronic engineering. I noticed her during dinners and started chatting her up. She was a very attractive redhead and I was smitten but it was clear to me that I was not her only admirer and she, very understandably, played the field. However, I discovered that she liked listening to classical music. I took her to several concerts and we had supper afterwards. Nothing developed, probably because we both shared rooms in college with other students. 

 She agreed to be my partner at the May Ball in June at the end of the year. About a week before the dance we were talking and she asked me what time the Ball finished. I said dawn. She looked me in the eye and said she would like to visit the new motel at Newmarket and why didn’t we stay there for the night of the ball. Carol was my first real encounter with a girl. I had never made love before though I suspected she had. I could barely contain myself. We arrived at the hotel early. She had chosen well. The staff did not even look at the guests checking in. 

 We kissed slowly at first and then more seriously. I felt her hands undoing my belt, undoing my trousers and stroking me. She showed me how to excite her. We made love as we were getting undressed to change for the Ball, then used the shower together. It became touch and go whether we would get to the Ball but somehow we did. We danced all night in a dream and got back to the motel at 4 o’clock. We took all our clothes off and went to bed exhausted. The chamber maid knocked on the door at 10.30. I rang down and arranged a late check out. We took full advantage of the two hours extension and arrived back at College at three feeling rather tired. It occurred to me how marvellous it would be to be able to perform now as I did then.

 In fact our relationship did not continue for much longer as I was committed to going sailing all Summer and, when we returned in the Autumn, I stupidly agreed to do some rowing for the college second eight which cramped my spare time. Carol was not too pleased and disappeared in a huff. I did not mind too much as I was having to work quite hard and there were other girls at college who were not so time consuming, even if they were not quite as exciting.

 I came back to the present with a start. I decided I would try John’s secretary and called her from my mobile when I got downstairs in the lobby. Jill told me she would look at her copy of the passenger manifest. I gave her Richard’s name. She came straight back telling me that he had been on board the aircraft but that his body had not been found; he might be in one of the hospitals. She added that the bodies of Harry Hodgson, Charles Tumbrill and the other 798 Captain on the aircraft had been found. She sounded desolated.

 I called Carol. The phone rang and rang but there was no answer. I tried Mandy. 

“Where are you?” she said “I’ve been calling you and they told me in the RORC that you had left.”

“I’m in the RORC, just about to go home.”

“How did you get on with John? Did he ask your advice?” 

 I didn’t feel like giving her a run down on the conversation just then. I needed to explain all the many nuances. 

“Why don’t you come round to my place to-night. It will save you a long journey and I need to talk. Have you got any spare clothes with you?”

“Oh yes. I always keep some in the office. OK. I’ll be round about 6.30 to 7.” She paused and then carried on. “I’m looking forward to seeing you.” The phone went dead.

 I collected my briefcase and caught a cab to Waterloo. The fog which had been thinning as I went into lunch had lifted into a mist and the visibility was about 800 yards. I felt a sense of urgency to get home and do some work but could not define what was driving me on. I was back by 3.30. Dora had left and the place looked spotless. I called Carol. A strange female voice answered. I gave her my name. 

“Oh thank goodness you called. I’m Susan, a friend of Carol’s. She has rushed off to Ealing General Hospital. Richard was on the plane and is very seriously injured. I’ve collected the children but I don’t know what to do as we are all going away on a skiing holiday to-morrow morning.”

 I seemed to remember that Carol’s children were ten and eight years old.

“Susan, Carol is bound to call you. Doesn’t she have any other friends locally? Try and get something organised for to-night and get them to school to-morrow.” I gave her my number to call in emergency.

 The news was still full of the accident. The dead had been split between Hounslow and Ealing mortuaries and the injured were spread amongst the local hospitals. The accident investigation authorities needed to collect every piece of wreckage and mark carefully where it had been found so that the flight trajectory of the aircraft could be worked out. It was going to take a long time since even the smallest piece of wreckage and electronics could be very important. They were getting a bit worried because the cockpit voice recorder had still not appeared. There was no way that the A30 would be open for a day or so, even though troops had been called in to help collect the wreckage. It was mentioned that the AAIB would be using a special hangar at Farnborough belonging to the Defence Establishment Research Agency, just for the wreckage.

 Jill Stanton rang to give me the news I already knew. Richard was very ill at Ealing. I asked her how he was but she did not know. I rang the hospital. It took ages to get through. The lines must have been jammed with calls. I asked how Richard was. At first they would not tell me but I explained the situation briefly and the man told me that Mr. Trentham was critically ill. There was nothing more I could do but pray, something I did not normally do.

 The phone rang. 

“Peter.” It was Carol sounding desperate. “He’s alive but there is not much hope. I’m going to stay here over night. I’ve spoken to Susan who has agreed to look after the kids this evening and her eighteen year old daughter is going to sleep in the house to-night. They’re off in the morning so I don’t know what I am going to do. My mother lives in Edinburgh and is not very fit and Richard’s parents are both dead. I will have to get back by end of school to-morrow whatever happens.”

“Carol, call me the moment you have any news. Phone me to-morrow morning whatever happens and let me know how you are getting on.” She rang off.

 I did not know what I should do to help. I could bring her kids over here for a day or so but I had had no experience of children and anyway they really ought to be with their friends. Surely she must have other friends who could look after her children. Apart from our early infatuation, we had not kept in touch. I was shattered when Richard first introduced me to his new wife in the car park at Luton Airport but instinctively neither of us said anything at the time. Richard had met Carol when she was a management trainee with Britannia but she left when she had her first child. Carol and I had met several times while we were at Britannia but after Richard left we did not see each other again. I decided that Carol would have to sort it out to-morrow, by herself. She should get her mother down. I did not want to get involved again.

 The afternoon mail had arrived. Mostly bills and computer companies selling hardware and software. There was an invitation to take part in a symposium on the modern airplane flight deck at the Royal Aeronautical Society, 4 Hamilton Place, which pleased me. It was six months off but it would need a lot of work.
On a shelf in the dining room I found my Jeppeson radio navigation approach charts. I took out the ILS and GESS approach plates for 27L at Heathrow and marked where the 798 crashed on the chart; it was actually right on the centre line for the runway but about 500 yards short of the correct touch down point. The instruments on the flight deck would have shown that the aircraft was on the runway centre line all the way down until it crashed. However, the instruments should also have shown that the aircraft was about 150 ft. below the correct glide slope. The weather of course was very poor but that should not have mattered. What really had happened? Surely whatever went wrong must have been due to the hijackers? It was difficult to think of any other explanation.

Though I could not stop thinking about the crash it was really not my business, but John Chester had drawn me into the action. He was keeping me on line as an insurance policy, possibly using me as a sounding board. Mandy told me not to listen. But Mandy did not know about Richard, or Carol for that matter. I realised that I needed to be careful how I introduced Carol into the conversation with Mandy. Least said soonest mended had always been one of my maxims. I was the world’s worst dissembler.
CHAPTER 2
I must have dozed off in the sitting room. The TV was on, the local London news just finishing and there was a banging on the door. I recognised the imperious knocks. Mandy had arrived.

“You made good time. What train did you catch?”

“I didn’t work overtime to-night, everything was so disorganised because of the crash. Clients didn’t turn up or they wanted to leave early so, what’s sauce for the geese is sauce for the goose. Anyway,” she suddenly turned serious “I wanted to see you and hear how you’re getting on.” 

“What was the weather like? Has it cleared any more?”

“The fog’s still quite patchy but the Evening Standard says the fog will be gone completely by the morning.”

 I helped her off with her jacket and once again saw two of the reasons why I found her so attractive. She had a magnificent figure and knew it. She stretched knowing that I would immediately pull her towards me. I could feel myself pressing against her. Suddenly she broke away.

“Let's be sensible. We have a lot to talk about. What time did you book the table?”

 She was right of course, about not rushing anything, as she was right about a lot of things, but from where I was standing it seemed a pity. On the other hand there was something to look forward to! 

“Eight o’clock at Simon’s. I ordered oysters, lobster and shrimps in that order!” 

She grinned, took her bag upstairs to change and shouted down as she climbed up the stairs “To-day’s only Tuesday and I have to work to-morrow. You’d better check that they’ve got salad and sole meuniere.” 

“You are not accompanying me looking like that, I hope,” she added as she turned into the spare room. She always used the spare room and probably, whatever our future relationship might be, always would in this house. She felt that Diana was in my room there, looking on. I should have moved when it became obvious that Diana wasn’t coming back but it hadn’t mattered until Mandy came along.

 Upstairs, I concluded that a shower might be a good thing in the circumstances, bearing in mind I could hear Mandy using her shower in the spare room. A slightly less formal suit than the one I had been wearing in London seemed also the order of the evening. After a quick shave I went downstairs to wait but not for long. Mandy would win first prize for a quick change act against all comers. Diana had always seemed to take an eternity to get ready. Perhaps Mandy’s legal training and her ability to switch quickly from one subject to another was relevant. Anyway, whatever the cause the result was always very agreeable. 
 She entered the sitting room radiating a smell of some exotic French perfume. I could never tell which one was which since they all had the same effect on me. She was wearing a fawn cashmere dress, buttoned all the way down the front which showed her figure off to perfection. I hoped her clients were not affected the way I was. Of course they had to endure the severe spectacles which reassured me slightly. To-night however the spectacles were nowhere to be seen. Besides her other attributes, Mandy just had to hold the world record for inserting contact lenses. 

“Where’s my Kir?” she announced quickly as I approached her, almost as a defence mechanism. “It’s the minimum reward for such a quick change.” 

“Good idea.” I went into the dining room to get the drinks from the dresser and on my return she was watching the Channel 4 news. The accident seemed to be the only subject. Everything else in the world seemed to have been put on hold. A new Foreign Secretary had been appointed. The cockpit voice recorder had still not been found. The A30 might be opened on Thursday morning. Sadly, two more survivors had died. 
There was one new piece of information from Sydney. A dead body, murdered by a bullet in the head, had been found in the Hyatt Regency car park. It was suspected that the body might be associated with the hijacking as the bullet was a special soft type found in the latest pistols that hijackers used. Significantly, there were no papers on the body to aid identification. 

The news reader showed an interview that had taken place earlier with Bob Parnell. Bob started by sympathising with all the relatives and people affected by the accident. As befitted the President of the Independant Transport Aircraft Company his words somehow carried the conviction of someone who really cared, unlike a lot of politicians. 
“At this stage clearly no-one knows for sure whether the cause of the aircraft loss was due to the hijacking. However, I can assure you all that my company will do everything in its power to help in discovering the true reason for this terrible accident and to ensure, as far as we can, that nothing like it ever occurs again.” 
The interviewer tried to get Bob to speculate on the cause of the accident but Bob would have none of it. 
“Your AAIB is probably the best of its kind in the world and we must all help the AAIB to find out what happened. To try to second guess the cause would be very stupid. We must be certain that we find the right answer. Neither you the media, the travelling public, the world’s airlines nor we, the world’s airline manufacturing industry will be helped by rushing into the wrong answer.” 

 The interviewer attempted to get Bob to agree that if Independant was to blame then they would meet all the claims. 
“No useful purpose will be served by discussing the issues you are trying to raise. Claims are a matter for the courts, not for discussion on the television.” 

 The interviewer kept on trying to speculate but was no match for Bob who had been trained in a hard school. Mandy switched the set off. 

“If we get hooked on these interviews we will never get out.”

“Did you notice the smooth way Bob tried to include Airbus and Boeing in the equation, suggesting that the cause may read across to all aircraft as well as to Independant.”

“Tell me about it. These guys really earn their money. They don’t run monopoly utilities. They know what true competition means. And look at the way he side stepped the issue of whether Independant would pay the claims. Which reminds me. We have a lot to talk about. Come on, Peter. Let’s get the show on the road.”

 I had chosen Simon’s because we would not need a car and could drink without worrying about whether we were over the limit. The downside was that we had to leave early to allow for a fifteen minute walk. We put on our coats, I set the alarm and locked the door. 

 As we walked along the street Mandy started to chat. 

“I don’t know whether it is significant for our relationship but our firm has been retained by General Electric.” 

“I shouldn’t think so. They supply the engines of course, but it is most unlikely that the accident was due to the engines. Hijacking must be the obvious reason. If it was due to the engines then there would have been conversations between the crew and air traffic and the media would already know all about it. In my opinion, this accident is almost certainly going to be due to some effect of the hijacking.”

“You should know. I hope you’re right because somehow I feel you are going to get drawn into this thing. I don’t want there to be a conflict of interest. It seems to me that my firm will have to be at the inquest for a start and who knows what will happen after that. There are bound to be claims because the old Warsaw Convention passenger insurance amount of $150,000 is still pitifully small. If there were any US citizens on board, the claims would start in the USA so Independant and GE had better be clean, let alone Royal World Airlines. This thing could rumble on for years.”

 Mandy must have been psychic about my involvement. She did not even know yet the detail of my conversation with John Chester and certainly not the Carol/Richard Trentham dimension. One thing for sure, I had no intention of mentioning Carol to Mandy unless I was forced to. Luckily we reached the restaurant and were shown to our table, conveniently to the side of a quite small dining room. Simon, the owner came up and asked what we wanted to drink. 

“I’ll stay with Kir,” decided Mandy without hesitation, but I decided to have a Scotch since the Kir was a bit too sweet for my taste. Simon returned with the drinks, some water for my whisky and the menus. There was a complete silence as we studied the options. I looked round as I added the water to my Scotch. The room was quite full of diners which must have been good news for Simon.

 “Have you decided?” I asked and shut my menu.

“Yes. I shall have crudités and grilled sole with sauté potatoes. What about you?”

“Salad niçoise for me and I’ll join you with the sole.” We put down the menus as a signal to the waiter.

“OK. Let's hear about John Chester.”

 I paused for a moment judging where to begin.

“John told me that the hijacking took place just under two hours before landing and Harry must have selected the hijacking code because Eurocontrol warned Heathrow fairly early on. The hijackers told Harry to organise the aircraft to be refuelled at Heathrow so that they could immediately fly to somewhere, unspecified, in the Middle East. In addition, they told him to send a message to the Government that the six recent al-Qaeda people who had been taken as prisoners must be brought to the aircraft and boarded as passengers.”

“But the security forces would never have allowed the aircraft to take-off.”

“Yes, the hijackers obviously realised that there would be a problem and so they told Harry to tell Heathrow that the aircraft would be blown up with everyone on board killed if they weren’t allowed to go. From that point on the flight appeared to be normal, that is from a RWA flight operations viewpoint. The next thing that flight operations knew was that the aircraft had crashed. They’ve no idea of the cause and are waiting to hear from the AAIB after they have inspected the wreckage for evidence of a bomb explosion. Clearly the cockpit voice recorder is going to be absolutely crucial because, if there are no clues there, it really will be a mess. Let’s hope they find it soon. I’m sure we are going to learn something from the crews' conversation. 

“The weather was Category 3B, blind auto-pilot landing, so they would not have seen anything until they hit the ground. John is very worried because if the accident is not due to hijacking then he may be involved personally. He was one of the chief advocates for choosing the 798 over the new larger Airbus A380. He felt that the flight deck design was basically safer than the Airbus and he was supported by Francis Thomas who was Director of Engineering at the time. To cheer him up I told him that in the circumstances anything might have happened. The design of the flight deck would almost certainly be irrelevant.

“One problem for John is that at about the time of the Board Meeting, Airbus was saying that they did not like the electronic architecture of the 798. It was not in accordance with the latest specifications of the Airlines Avionic Committee.”

“Who are they, for goodness sake? Does their opinion matter?”

“Well, the committee is very influential and is a collection of all the major airlines together with aircraft and avionic equipment manufacturers. There has to be a very good reason for a manufacturer to go against the committee’s recommendations. Airbus felt the aircraft was designed to a standard that was less safe than the standard to which the Committee had agreed. Of course, at the time everybody dismissed the Airbus remarks in the immortal lines of Mandy Rice-Davies ‘they would say that wouldn’t they’. However, now there’s an accident Airbus can say ‘I told you so!’”

“But it’s the hijacking.”

“Maybe, but not proven yet. Remember some of the Board would have preferred the Airbus. If the accident is shown to be due to poor flight deck design, inadequate safety provisions or bad interfacing with the pilots then John’s job could be on the line. Margaret Williams can’t wait for Roger to take over from John.”

“Surely all planes are designed to the same rules. Aren’t they all equally safe?”

“You know it’s not quite as simple as that. The rules are pretty well the same both in the USA and in Europe but manufacturers can meet the requirement in different ways and Airbus, Boeing and Independant are always looking for a competitive edge. On the flight deck, the new aircraft are full of digital computers and the pilots are really managers of all the different systems, electrical, navigation, auto-pilot, hydraulic, air conditioning and many more. The days of the pilot actually pulling and pushing the flying control surfaces himself are long since gone.”

“But the flying controls are operated by the pilot when he, or she, is actually flying the aircraft?”

“Well yes, but the pilot is not actually strong enough to move the controls. The control surfaces are moved by motors signalled from the flight deck. The pilot can tell the controls what he wants by moving the control wheel but, depending on the actual flight conditions, the computers modify what the pilot selects so that there is not always a fixed relationship between the position of the pilot’s controls and the position of the control surfaces. The computers know best.”

Mandy pulled a disapproving face.

“What a horrible thought.” 

“Everything’s fine when all the computers are working correctly, but it can be a very different story when things start to go wrong. Pilots are trained to deal with all the emergencies which the designers can think of, but I always get worried about how the flight crew will react to emergencies which no-one has thought of. The problem is that when things are going normally, the pilots don’t have all that much to do actually flying the aircraft since all the routine functions are performed automatically. The pilots’ biggest work load en route is probably dealing with Air Traffic, getting the cruising altitudes and routings that they want. From that point of view things are not getting any easier and the number of aircraft on the long haul routes is steadily increasing.”
“You make it sound as if the pilots are just managers, not pilots at all.”

“That’s just my point, Mandy. They really don’t have to do a lot of actually flying the aircraft and for well over 99% of the time the systems are working correctly.
 “The difficulty is that the pilots have to be incredibly knowledgeable to understand all the systems, but the control of the systems is, most of the time, done automatically so they are not exercising their knowledge. For most of their working life the pilots are doing a very humdrum routine task and the real test only comes when things go wrong. These days, pilots can be trained on emergencies in flight simulators which are really superb and incredibly realistic but the problem here is that the pilots know that they are going to be given emergencies during the training flights so it is somewhat artificial and anyway, as I said, how do you practice for a real emergency that no-one has anticipated?”

 I was getting too enthusiastic on my pet subject and speciality but luckily the waiter appeared with our starters and I was able to stop. Mandy however was clearly listening very intently, subconsciously filing the information away for her legal briefs. She started eating absent-mindedly and then stopped.

“Look. You’re getting carried away. The aircraft was hijacked and crashed and you can’t resist wondering if there was some abstruse fault in the aircraft design.” She waved her finger at me. “I think it will be very interesting to see if the dead man found in the Hyatt in Sydney has any connection with the flight. It would have been better if the crew had been trained to deal with hijacking.”

“They are all trained in dealing with hijackers. It’s just another emergency they have to deal with.”

She paused as she was about to carry on eating.

“Tell me, what was John Chester getting at about preferring the Independant over the Airbus?” 

“Well for a start, in the Airbus aircraft the engine throttles do not move when the engine power is being controlled automatically. You can have the throttles fully forward as you would when taking off but the engines can actually be at flight idle. The only way you can tell how much power is being applied is by looking at the engine instruments and possibly by the noise, but these days that’s not much of a clue. Airbus made this change to save weight but both Independant and Boeing considered that the visual cues from the moving throttles actually helped the pilots control the aircraft more safely. So in the 798 the four throttle levers between the pilots are always in the correct position for the amount of power being applied and they move even when the speed or power is being controlled automatically. I think John liked that.”

“But Peter, surely the government authorities who approve the aircraft must know if the Airbus system is alright and if it is, surely that’s an end to the matter.”
 “You would think so, but some people think that the European regulating authorities, now the EASA, tend to support European industry.“

“What does EASA stand for? You people talk all the time in acronyms. How anyone is meant to understand you I just don’t know.”

 “I bet you are just the same in the legal profession. It’s just not practicable to keep repeating whole collections of words to describe a single element, be it organisations like the European Aviation Safety Agency, the Federal Aviation Administration or a radio aid for navigation like the Global Positioning System which we call GPS for short. I know what, I’ll give you a list of all the acronyms. Seriously though, you’ve made a very good point. You really will need my list if you get involved with this case.

 “Anyway we digress. The point is that commercial competition between the manufacturers is intense, so the regulators really feel the pressure from their local industry. In the example I have given you, the French authorities approved the Airbus throttle arrangements and everybody else validated the approval, even the FAA. There have been one or two Airbus accidents which some people attribute to the throttles not moving, but all the accident investigators concerned have given the concept a clean bill of health. In my view the system seems to work and even if having the throttles moving does make for a safer aircraft, the Airbus system is safe enough and that’s all that matters.”

 I paused. “Look let’s hope all this discussion is quite irrelevant. The situation is that there were some hijackers on the flight deck. As Jim Akers wrote in the FT to-day, it would be incredible if some very unlikely rare fault occurred on the aircraft on the very day the aircraft was hijacked.”

“You’re almost certainly right. But it’s going to be so difficult to sort it all out.” 

“Look if we carry on talking like this, my love, we will never finish the first course and our fish will be ruined. Let’s have five minutes silence.”

 Mandy said nothing, ate the rest of her crudités as if it was grass though luckily she showed no signs of chewing the cud. She looked as if she wanted to ask me a load of questions but I kept on raising my finger to my lips which clearly did not please her. She finally ate the last mouthful and looked at her empty glass.

“I wish you weren’t so rude. All I wanted was another Kir,” she said primly. We both knew she was trying to needle me but for once I was sure of my ground and ignored her. I waved to the waiter who brought another Kir and I asked for another whisky to keep her company. The drinks arrived followed almost immediately by our soles, which clearly had been waiting for some time while we were talking. We started to eat but Mandy could not hold her questions back. 

“Are there any other differences between the aircraft that I would notice if I went on to the flight deck?”

“Well yes. There is one big difference between the Boeing and Independant aircraft on the one hand and the Airbus fleet of aircraft on the other. The pilot on the Airbus uses one hand on a small ‘side stick controller’ to fly the aircraft while the pilot on the 798 has a conventional two handed control wheel. The point here is that all the latest aircraft including the 798 use either electrical or fibre optic cables, instead of steel cables, between the flight deck controls and the control surfaces, so the pilots’ control forces can be very light indeed. As I said, the controls surfaces are actually moved by large motors situated at the surfaces themselves and so there is no need for a conventional and heavy control column. On an Airbus the pilot with a side stick has an unrestricted view of the instruments and navigation displays.”

“Well if the side stick controller is so good why won’t Boeing and Independant use it?”

“Good question. In my opinion for three reasons. Firstly, they are very conservative and the side stick controller is a relatively new concept which in their opinion has not been validated. Secondly, Airbus thought of it first and the others don’t like being ‘me too’s’. 

“The third point is that with a side stick controller the pilot not flying the aircraft has no idea where the other pilot has put his controller since the two controllers are not tied together mechanically. In other words he can’t be certain what the operating pilot is trying to do. On the 798 the two wheels move together all the time so the ‘safety pilot’ is ‘in the loop’ which is very important in the opinion of the protagonists of the Boeing/Independant solution.”

“But what happens in an emergency? Can you have an emergency in the flying controls?”

“Bingo. You have asked the $64,000 question. Airbus have put an enormous amount of work into ensuring that if anything goes wrong with the pilot flying on one side of the aircraft, the other pilot can take over. It is all done by computer logic. The regulating authorities including the FAA are convinced that the Airbus solution is safe but the US aircraft manufacturers and some airlines don’t like or trust the idea. They believe in the conservative approach when dealing with safety issues.” 
 As usual I could not help being impressed by Mandy’s grasp of any subject she put her mind to. She was a historian for her first degree but she always grasped the key points straightaway, however technical the subject.

“As I said, Airbus was very concerned about the 798 avionic design. However, neither the FAA nor the EASA were convinced by the Airbus arguments and agreed to certificate the aircraft. Only time will tell if they should have done.”

 By mutual agreement after we finished our fish, we decided to have coffee back at the house. I called for the bill, helped Mandy on with her coat and we walked thoughtfully and slowly back home.

“Peter, you’ve told me why John is worried. Did you learn anything else?”

“Yes, two things. Firstly, the off duty first officer is alive and in hospital, unconscious. Let’s hope he will be able to shed some light on the situation. The other thing is that I’m sure John didn’t tell me everything. My guess is that he was going to give me a complete run down but, after talking to Jack Chiltern, he decided not to confide in me. Perhaps there is some security implication. I suppose I’ll find out eventually what it is he’s holding back.”

 We arrived home and as usual I went in first to cancel the alarm. I shouted to Mandy that it was safe for her to come in. I was always very careful not to set off the alarm inadvertently, ever since a friend of mine went into the living room before I had cancelled the alarm. I was connected to Central Station straightaway and they had rung the house to check, but the noise was so great we did not hear the phone in time before the answerphone took over. In no time flat the police were around and quite rightly gave me a hard time. This time there was no mistake and Mandy came in and went upstairs to her room. I went into the kitchen and started to make the coffee. My mobile phone rang.

“Peter, its Carol. Richard is alive but he has had to have his right leg amputated. I don’t think he really knows what is going on. He is full of drugs.” I could hear her choking at the other end of the line. I felt terrible. She had no real family to support her and with her mother not very strong, life was suddenly treating her very cruelly.

“Mother is managing to get here somehow, thank goodness and the children are staying with friends. I’m virtually living at the hospital. The people here are just wonderful. I barely know what I’m doing.”

 Mandy wandered into the kitchen to find out what was going on. She took over making the coffee but was clearly listening, certainly to my end of the conversation.

“Carol. Is there anything I can do to help?”

“Not really. I just had to talk to someone who understands. I’m not very optimistic. Anyway I’m not sure Richard could adjust to just having one leg and not being able to fly.”

“Don’t talk nonsense. Of course he’ll be able to manage. Look at all the people who only have one leg and lead normal lives.” I tried to reassure her but I don’t think either of us was convinced.

“Carol, give me a call to-morrow when Richard has recovered from the operation and let me know how he is.”

 Mandy eyed me thoughtfully as the coffee drained through the filter into the pot. So much for my idea of not telling Mandy about Carol.

“Who was that?”

“Carol Trentham, Richard Trentham’s wife. Richard and I were pilots together at Britannia before Richard went off to join Cathay. He is based in London but was operating Hong Kong - Sydney last week. He was dead heading back to London on Flight 573. Carol called me this morning worried as hell and then later she let me know that Richard had been found and was alive. You probably gathered that he has had to have one of his legs amputated and she is doubtful whether he will survive. What a mess.”

“That’s terrible.” There was a pause. “You didn’t mention that she’d called,” she said almost accusingly. Nothing got by Mandy.

“I forgot. It didn’t seem that important and everything else drove it out of my mind.”

Mandy said nothing. By mutual consent we both knew that the matter was reserved for another time. We took our coffee into the living room and sat down, close together, on the settee. She must have put on some more perfume while I was talking to Carol. I put my mouth on her neck and smelled the fragrance. She turned towards me and took my hand in hers. Her hand followed mine as I turned the TV on to the News at Ten and then put it at the top of her thigh. Mandy immediately took her hand away and reached for the controller to turn the TV off but stopped suddenly as we both realised that there was an interview with Bob Furness, head of the Air Accident Investigation Branch. Bob was explaining the procedure for investigating accidents and how important was the analysis of the two crash recorders. We relaxed for a moment and started to drink our coffee.

“We have not yet found the cockpit voice recorder but it can only be a matter of time. We do have the other recorder with all the flight information. The 798 meets the very latest requirements for recording the critical flight data which can shed light on possible causes of accidents. However the analysis will take a long time. We need the help not only of the airline but also of the aircraft manufacturer and of course the security and explosive experts. 

“In parallel with this work we are collecting every piece we can of the aircraft and looking for evidence of bomb damage. We are laying all the pieces out in a hangar we are using at Farnborough and we are ‘rebuilding’ the aircraft. We have had a lot of experience of similar work in the past starting with the Comet fatigue failure accident many years ago. The position of each piece where it hit the ground is important since this can show if the aircraft started to disintegrate before it hit the ground. We log the position of every part before it is moved and ‘reassembled’ in the hangar.”

“But surely Mr. Parnell this is going to be a straightforward case of the hijackers interfering with the crew?”

“Possibly, but if so we still need to understand what exactly happened.”

 The interviewer raised the subject of voice recorders. Would the public be able to hear the conversations of the crew.

“You are quite right to mention the voice recorder. The remarks on the recording between the crew will be absolutely vital in helping us to find out what went wrong. Deciphering what has been recorded however is not as simple as it sounds.” Bob paused to stress a point. “It is our policy in the United Kingdom only to let the absolute minimum number of necessary specialists listen to the recording. For a start it can be quite difficult to understand what is being said and a lot of what is said is very often quite irrelevant to the accident. If the recording got into the wrong hands a lot of unnecessary grief could be caused to the dependants of the crew and passengers.”

 For once the interviewer did not question this point as I expected. 

“What would happen if you couldn’t find the voice recorder?”

“We will find the recorder. It’s just a matter of time. When we know the cause of the accident we will let everybody know. Meantime I would ask you to help us by not interfering with our work. You must realise that the work of inspection is incredibly harrowing and upsetting to my inspectors and they need your support.”

 I switched the set off. 

“He must be getting a bit impatient, not yet having the cockpit voice recorder.” Mandy remarked.

“You’re right. It shouldn’t be taking this long. It is a pity it is not underwater because it has a special beacon if it is submerged.”

We sat up and drank our coffee. Mandy put her cup down and then took my cup and saucer from me and put it safely out of reach. She turned to me and as she came closer I could smell the fresh perfume again. Slowly and gently she made it clear that life had to go on in spite of tragic accidents. She ran her fingers through my hair and down my body and I could feel myself reacting. This was going to be our first time and we had to learn how the other would respond. I started to unbutton her dress and helped it off her shoulders. I realised why Mandy had gone upstairs. She was not wearing a bra, or anything else for that matter. I held her breasts in my hand and caressed her nipples as we started to kiss. We both froze as the telephone started to ring.

“Let it ring.” she whispered in my ear. “The answering machine can deal with it.” 

“It won’t. I haven’t switched it on.”

“Well it’s your decision.” But the way she stroked me made it almost impossible for me to leave.

 Everything stopped while the phone seemed to ring for ever. The caller finally gave up and all was quiet. We both relaxed and tried to continue where we had left off but the noise started again. Mandy took her hand away and moved back slightly so that I could get up to answer the phone. 

“Peter, its Mike Mansell here.” 

I sat down as I knew it would be a long conversation. Mike was a partner in CrossRisk Insurance and I had advised him before in an accident claim where pilot error might have been involved. Mike’s firm had been retained by the airline concerned. It had been a tricky case and the engine manufacturer had been trying to say the crew drills had not been carried out correctly and a very expensive engine had been damaged. I had been able to show that the drills in the Flight Manual had not covered the particular case in question and that the airline was not responsible. I had saved Mike’s company over a million pounds and they were very grateful. They even gave me a percentage bonus which had kept me going between other jobs.

 I had got to know Mike quite well. He was slightly older than I was and he had never married. Not, I judged, that he had not had lots of opportunity with quite a few delightful girls, but he always seemed to shy away when he reckoned he might get caught.

 My telephone chair faced Mandy who had not bothered to pull her dress back up. Her breasts seemed very prominent and I found it very difficult to concentrate. I put the phone down and turned the chair round so I could not see her.

“Peter, are you still there.” Mike asked as I re-lifted the handset.

“Yes, its OK. I was just getting a chair and some notepaper. Go ahead. How can I help you.?”

“Look, I’m sorry I’m calling you so late. I hope I’m not disturbing you?” I made no reply. I did not dare look at Mandy.

“Are you there?” 

“Yes Mike, please go ahead.”

“You may know that we recently got the contract from Royal World Airlines to supply insurance cover for any passenger claims that might occur from flight crew negligence. RWA did not want us to insure the hull, that was already being done by Hull Claims Insurance but Hull Claims didn’t want to be involved with claims resulting from ‘pilot error’. They felt that pilot error was still the most frequent cause of accidents and required a specialist organisation. Well Peter, we have just had an internal company meeting and we are very concerned that the claims from this particular accident could bankrupt the firm. We laid off a lot of the risk of course but we feel that the magnitude of the claims will be unprecedented, particularly when all the legal fees are taken into account.

“Of course I’m not for a minute suggesting the accident was due to pilot error. The accident is almost certainly due to the hijacking. It’s anybody’s guess at this stage, but the nature of the accident suggests that if it’s not a bomb or something like it then pilot error is clearly a possibility and we might then be liable. I recommended that we should ask you to advise us and everybody agreed. They hadn’t forgotten the last job you did for us. What do you think?”

“Well, I think you’re probably worrying unnecessarily. However I think you’re right to be prepared. Mike, I think I’m free to accept your offer but I’ll have to check with John Chester since he half hinted when I saw him at lunch to-day that he might have a job for me. To be honest I think he changed his mind about using me but I had better check with him in the morning. In any event his interests and yours should be identical.”

“Great. I feel much happier already.”

“Mike. Let’s get one thing straight. If I help you I am only interested in finding out the truth, hijacking, maintenance fault, pilot error or whatever. This accident could conceivably have been caused by pilot error but of course, bearing in mind all the safeguards that are currently built in to protect modern aircraft, I feel that the hijacking must have caused something to go wrong. For example, the hijacker may have prevented the crew from flying the aircraft correctly. Clearly in that case it wouldn’t have been pilot error. It’s not going to be easy working on the job because as you know everything is in AAIB’s hands at the moment. If they think it’s pilot error, the chance of getting anyone to believe anything else is going to be very small and there are no witnesses, except possibly Frank Mercer if he survives. So in that case there would be precious little chance of my being able to help you. However, it certainly looks like a bomb or possibly pilot error and as far as the manufacturer, Independant Transport Aircraft Company, is concerned either would be an ideal solution. 

“Another thing, if you do want me to help, you must realise that if I’m going to keep abreast of the situation I shall have to do a lot of work and travelling using all my contacts and it 's going to cost you. Your money will probably be wasted. I will do everything I can to help you but I don’t want to mislead you.”

“I know that and in this case my company is prepared to pay you not only your normal fees and expenses but a lump sum percentage bonus as we did last time if we judge by your actions that you have saved us from having to pay up the many millions of pounds that will be due if the fault is found to be due to pilot error.”

“OK. I don’t like being mercenary in situations like this but this accident is on a scale that no-one has encountered before and there are many ramifications that are going to complicate the legal issues. Send me the normal contract letter and also another letter which shows that I am acting as your consultant. I may need it to convince people that I have a right to be involved. I will confirm I can take the job when I have spoken to John Chester. Bye.”

 I put the phone down and stood still for a moment thinking about the conversation. I suddenly realised that Mandy had come over from the settee and I could smell her perfume again. I reconnected the answering machine. She was standing behind me and starting to remove my clothes so we would be on an equal footing. I turned to make it easier for her. Mandy came very, very close and Mike Mansell seemed to go a long, long way away.

***

 I woke up with a start in Mandy’s bed. As I had suspected she had not wanted to sleep in the room that Diana and I had shared, even though the bed had been changed a long time ago. The last thing I remembered before going to sleep was asking Mandy how she could have been so sure that we were going to make it that night. She murmured that I was being very silly, it was standing out a mile. I told her that as a solicitor she should not exaggerate. She told me not to be coarse. But she was right in one way. I was never very good at hiding my feelings.

 There were noises downstairs. It was already 7.15. There was a smell of coffee and bacon. I leapt out of bed to find out what was going on. I got some trousers from my room and went downstairs. As I had anticipated, Mandy was sitting at the kitchen table tucking into a bowl of cereal, a plate of bacon under the grill, brown toast in the toaster and coffee already made in the pot. She was dressed in her lawyer’s uniform but without her jacket. She was wearing her glasses and reading the Times.

“Good Morning, Ms Arrowsmith, did you sleep well.?” She said nothing for a moment but finished her cereal.
“Good morning, Mr. Talbert. I trust you had a good evening.”

“It was like the curate’s egg, thank you. Good in parts. I’ve come to consult my lawyer. Would you advise me to have some coffee?”

“Very definitely.”

 I poured myself a mug of coffee and moved another chair to the table. Mandy looked at her watch. It was nearly time for her to go.

“Peter,” she said breaking the lawyer/client relationship “From what I heard on the radio they’ve found the voice crash recorder. The security people unearthed it while they were checking for bombs and it’s now on the way to Farnborough for AAIB.” 

“Strange that it was not found earlier.” I looked at the time. “You’re going to be late. You must stop eating and run.”

 She agreed and dashed to get ready. She returned with her jacket and I helped her and kissed her neck on the way. She leant back to show approval but quickly turned round.

“For once I wish you were dressed. You could have taken me to the station. I must go home to-night,” anticipating my next question, “I’ve some things to do. I’ll call you from the office later on when I see what’s happening.”

 She turned back again and kissed me slowly, on the lips.

“Oh Peter. While I remember. That was quite a night.” She put her tongue in my mouth and then withdrew it rather hurriedly as I grabbed her and tried to agree. 

 She rushed out with her bag and I watched her hurrying down the street being barked at by next door’s dog. I collected the clothes I was wearing last night from the living room and went upstairs to get dressed. It was just as well that Dora had not been coming to-day, though I supposed she would not have been surprised. I had no plans to go out and in some ways it was a relief that Dora wasn’t going to come. 

 I logged on to the Internet and looked at the FT. Jim Akers had an article saying amongst other things that at the time the paper went to press the cockpit voice recorder had not been found. He pointed out how vital it was not only to find the recorder but that it should work properly. He also pointed out that if something had gone wrong then it must have been at the last moment. Jim favoured the crew being distracted by the apparent hijacker when landing in critical conditions. Without something of this nature it was going to be necessary to investigate how it was possible for the aircraft to be actually well below the correct flight path and the crew to take no action. Was there something wrong with the Landing System they were using? Why didn’t the Air Traffic Controller warn the crew? There was an alerting system in the control tower if the aircraft was not on the runway centre line, why wasn’t there one for the glide slope?

 Jim discussed the procedure in the UK for dealing with cockpit voice recorders. He pointed out how everything on the recording was confidential and how normally not even the transcript was ever written down in the final AAIB accident report. In the United States the transcript was a matter of public record but even there the actual recording was never played publicly.

 I decided to ring John Chester to ask whether he minded my being a consultant to CrossRisk Insurance. Jill Stanton answered his private number. 

“Captain Chester is not available at the moment. Can I help you?”

 I told her of the need to speak to him as soon as it was convenient and she undertook to pass on the message.

“How is your friend in hospital? Is he alright.”

 I explained about the loss of his right leg and that it was unlikely that he would survive. She sounded very sad. My story was just one of so many she was dealing with. She had a very difficult job. In my study I went through my letters and started tidying up. Doing nothing for twenty four hours always left a lot of odd jobs to be cleared up. The phone rang.

“Peter? It's Carol. Richard’s not very well I’m afraid.” She paused trying to get a hold on herself. “He is able to recognise me and remembers the flight and the approach but nothing else. He suddenly said he must speak to you. It was very strange. It seemed more important to him than anything else.

“Can you come over straightaway? I’m so afraid. If you don’t come immediately it may be too late.”

“Of course. Which ward is he in?”

“He is in the Hossack Ward. Park your car in the visitor’s park and you will see the sign to the Ward. When you get there you must ask for sister. He is on the critical list but you are being allowed in because I have explained the situation to Matron. You may have to wait because he is in great pain and on drugs. Anyway you will see me there. See you soon.”

 I got the car out, locked up the house and drove as quickly as I dared to Ealing General. I managed to find room to park the car and went to the Hossack ward which was on the first floor. The swing doors must have operated a buzzer and a nurse came out of the side office.

“Can I help you.” She looked me up and down.

“I’ve come to see Richard Trentham who is on the critical list. His wife has just called me and said that she had spoken with Matron and it had been agreed that I could go in when it was judged possible.”

“Oh I don’t know anything about that. Let me get sister.”

 She returned with another nurse, no older than herself but wearing what must have been a sister’s uniform.

“You are Mr. Talbert?” I nodded. “Well Mr. Trentham is very, very ill but has moments of consciousness and he has been asking for you. You had better sit down in the waiting room but it may be a very long wait.”

 I did as she asked and picked up the papers. To be honest it was difficult to concentrate but I tried to make myself read an old copy of Country Life. There was an article on houses in Brittany and it all seemed a million miles away. I suddenly became aware that I was not alone. Carol had appeared. She was an elegant and striking woman in spite of the surroundings. She looked very tired but she had obviously taken care with her appearance in spite of the world falling apart around her. 

“Peter. It's been a long time.” She held both my hands in hers and looked at me. I felt slightly uncomfortable, perhaps unsure of myself. “Thank you for coming. To be honest I'm not very hopeful. He has been asleep for an hour or two. If he comes round and can talk they are going to call me. If it seems alright and he still wants to talk to you I will call you.”

“OK Carol.” We said nothing, perhaps both of us remembering happier times in the past. “Can I get you some tea, coffee? Have you eaten to-day?”

“A cup of coffee would be nice. There is a machine on the next floor. To tell you the truth I haven't had breakfast. I’ve got a few biscuits in my bag.” She produced an unflatteringly large ladies’ bag which obviously contained all her emergency requirements. 

“Look. I’ll get some coffee and we had better go out somewhere.”

“Peter. I can’t. I never know when Richard is going to come to. They bring me some food from the canteen when they can.”

 I went downstairs and managed to make the machine deliver some coffee with milk and without sugar. As I climbed up the stairs Carol rushed down to meet me. “Quick. Richard wants to talk to you.”

 We went into the ward and passed many patients. It was not visiting time and the nurses were doing all the various things which were needed in a very busy ward. At the far end we went into a room which I realised was reserved for patients who were critically ill. I was horrified when I saw Richard but I hope I did not let my feelings show. He had a bandage on his head and both of his shoulders seemed damaged. One arm was in a sling and the other arm was positioned for a drip. His eyes were open and he recognised me. I could barely hear what he was saying. I leant right up to his mouth.

“Peter. The hijackers…” He coughed and shut his eyes. I waited. He opened his eyes again. He had obviously forgotten he had spoken. He stopped and then seemed to make a supreme effort “I tried to tell …” He coughed again and then he seemed to go into a coma. I decided to leave which obviously pleased the nurse. Carol stayed behind.

 I went back to the waiting room and tried to escape once again to Brittany but somehow Country Life could not hold my attention. Presumably Richard must have been sitting in the upper deck and seen the hijackers. Had he seen the lights out of the windows? I began to sympathise with the AAIB inspectors who have to go to the accidents. When one is surrounded by death on all sides one takes a very different and sometimes emotional view of what needs to be done to prevent another accident. Safety may be a statistical matter to the aircraft designers and the regulators but if one is present at the statistical accident, it all seems very different. AAIB had a history of recommending modifications to prevent accidents but in truth the only thing that would prevent accidents would be to stop flying, and that would never happen. The fact is that people are prepared to accept accidents providing they are not too frequent and that they do not happen to them.

 I thought about what Richard had said. It didn’t make any sense. What did the hijackers do? Who did he try to tell? And what was it?
 Carol appeared. It was all over. “He’s dead”. I put out my arms to comfort her and she burst into tears. I held her as she sobbed uncontrollably for a minute or so. Then she quietened down.

“I’ll take you home.”

“But I can’t leave my car here.” 
“Don’t worry. We can sort that out.” I spoke to the sister to make sure she knew how to contact Carol. We went down to my car and I drove her back to Farnham where she lived. It seemed to take forever. The traffic was terrible. We said nothing. 

 When we finally got to her house she gave me the keys and I opened the front door. It was about 3 o’clock by this time. “Have you got any food in the house?”

“There’s some food in the fridge and also in the freezer compartment. But I don’t want anything. I think I’ll go to bed.”

“Carol. Your best bet is to eat something. Get the children home. You’ll have to go on living. After all Richard has been away a lot and the children are used to a life without him, most of the time.” I knew I was being hard but I really believed that though she had to grieve, she must not give way.

 She looked at me and nodded miserably. I found some bacon and eggs in the fridge and turned the grill on. Carol pointed to a cupboard which had saucepans and a frying pan. She went upstairs.

 I checked my mobile. John Chester had phoned and also Mandy. Mandy was busy with a client so I left my number. Jill put me through to John Chester.

“John, it’s Peter. How are things going?”

“Not too well. How I can help you?” He was obviously up to his armpits in problems.

“Only a quick one. Mike Mansell of CrossRisk Insurance wants to retain me as a consultant to help them. Is that OK? You mentioned you might want me to act for you.”

 There was a pause. 
“Yes. That’s fine. Whatever. After all RWA insures with them.” He clearly was not too pleased at this development but could not really stop it. I wanted to know what was troubling him but it seemed he was not about to tell me. “Keep in touch. I’d like to know how you get on.” He rang off.

 I started cooking the bacon and scrambling the eggs. I found some rather stale bread but felt it would be OK for toasting. Half way through Carol appeared. She had changed into sweater and trousers and looked very smart in spite of everything. She had not let having two children spoil her figure. She laid the table and when it was ready we sat down to eat.

 I think she managed to eat a lot more than she expected. In fact she cleaned her plate. There was some bacon left over but she refused to have any more. “You're right. I had better get hold of the children. They’ve got to know.”

 She went over to the phone and called the friend who was looking after her children. She had to explain about Richard first which obviously she found very hard. She managed to arrange for the children to come over after they had had tea. 

“Carol. You need to get some food. I’ll take you shopping and get you home before the children return. Then I’ll get your car back from Ealing.” She nodded her agreement.
 We went to Sainsbury’s and got a trolley. I had to prompt her to get the things she needed. I told her again, Richard may have died but life had to go on. The children needed to be fed. She bought bread, fruit, milk and a host of other things. She had very little money but paid with a credit card. I made her use the cash dispenser outside before we got back into the car.

 As we got back my mobile started to ring. 

“Peter? It's Mandy. Where are you?” she asked tersely.

“Mandy. I’m at Carol’s. Richard has died. He wanted to say something to me and I went to the hospital. I was only just in time but he couldn’t get the message out. I’m helping her get her life started again. We’ve been shopping and the children will be home in a moment. I’ve got to go by train into London and out to Ealing to bring her car back from the hospital.”

“Where are you now?” She sounded slightly more understanding but suspicious.

“Carol lives in Farnham.”

“Well I shall be here until quite late and then I shall be off to Bournemouth. Call me to-morrow and maybe we can meet up.”

“Fine. See you soon.” We said our goodbyes but they were not too extravagant.

 I noticed Carol had been following the conversation but she asked no questions. I rang for a cab to take me to the station and got Carol to give me the keys of her car. The cab came within ten minutes. I waved goodbye and was on my way. It was a miserable journey. When I got to Waterloo I bought the Evening Standard and took the underground to Ealing, reading the paper to catch up with what had been happening. The Secretary of State for Transport had decided to call a press conference the following afternoon. This was unheard of but then so was the hijacking. It was an unpleasant journey what with the rush hour, standing up most of the way and the difficulty of getting a cab to the hospital. It was gone 8.30 before I got into Carol’s car. 

 The drive home was uneventful and I got to Carol’s house by 10 o’clock. The children were still up looking very subdued. There was not much I could say. I embraced Carol sympathetically and said good-bye.

“Keep in touch. Anyway I’ll call you.” I got in the car and drove off.

 I got home about 11.30. It had been a long day but I didn’t feel I had accomplished much. I went straight to bed and dropped off to sleep.

 I saw Richard Trentham with all his bandages standing next to the bed. Carol was showing him yesterday’s Daily Telegraph. He looked through me with sightless eyes and shook his head, frowning, saying nothing. I tried to speak and nothing came out. I reached to grab him and he disappeared. Carol bent over as if to kiss me and I tried to escape by rolling over. I woke up covered in perspiration. I felt afraid. 
� GESS is the European Galileo satellite system
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